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“A time comes when silence is betrayal.”


Martin Luther King Jr., “Beyond Vietnam,”
a speech delivered at Riverside Church, New York City, April 4, 1967




Crisis of Conscience





CHAPTER 1



Becoming a Whistleblower




Resolved, that it is the duty of all persons in the service of the United States . . . to give the earliest information to Congress or other proper authority of any misconduct, frauds or misdemeanors committed by any officers or persons in the service of these states, which may come to their knowledge.


Legislation of July 30, 1778, reprinted in Journals of the Continental Congress, 1774–1789





Some of the worst crimes, and the most wrenching tests of character, happen by slow degrees, steady as sunrise. This is the story of how Allen Jones, an investigator at the state Office of the Inspector General in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, moved in gradual, irrevocable steps to a crossroads in his life, and one day made a fateful choice.


On July 23, 2002, Jones learned that a check for $2,000 had recently been deposited into an unnamed bank account used by Steven J. Fiorello, the state’s chief pharmacist. Hardly a remarkable sum, yet Jones’s instincts, honed by years of investigating multimillion-dollar fraud schemes, were aroused. Fiorello and his superiors had failed to register the account’s existence with the state comptroller, which was a felony offense in Pennsylvania. Worse, the check was from Janssen Pharmaceuticals, a subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson. Since Fiorello’s job was to choose which drugs were available for purchase by state hospitals, foster homes, prisons and elder care facilities throughout Pennsylvania, this money looked suspiciously like a bribe.


“It was the first of a series of ‘Oh my God!’ moments I had over the next months and years,” Jones remembers. “That check was like a loose pebble that started an avalanche.”


Today Jones is a slope-shouldered, rough-handed man of sixty who resembles a heavyset Chuck Norris. His close-cropped, grizzled beard is stained with nicotine around his mouth, and his face is reddened by weather. Beneath gray bangs and seams of concern across his forehead, his clear green eyes seem wary, though as he gets to know you they occasionally glint with humor. Jones likes to build things in wood and stone—houses, barns, drywall terracing—and spends much of his time alone in the forested foothills of the Appalachian region of central Pennsylvania, where he grew up. This is Pennsylvania Dutch country, where the Amish drive horse-drawn buggies with two gas lanterns for headlights, and the barns and clapboard houses stand square across the roof beam but often need a coat of paint. Jones grew up working with the Amish, and has some of their calm reserve. He chooses his words judiciously, like a good mason laying bricks, like a man accustomed to living at hazard before the law. He even swears judiciously: “The only way to accurately describe my state of mind at that moment,” he says of his realization that his own office was covering up massive pharmaceutical fraud, “was ‘fucking devastated.’ ” Jones has many friends who drop by his cabin at odd hours, to drink a beer and swap deer-hunting stories, but occasionally he’ll leave their company, walk out on his back porch and look over the frozen pond into the bare woods beyond, drawing hard on a cigarette.


Jones continued exploring Fiorello’s finances and found more checks written by Janssen, as well as by two other pharmaceutical companies, Pfizer and Novartis. “As an investigator I was taught to look for the big picture,” Jones says. “Not just what happened, but why it happened. So I started looking into what these drug companies were doing in Pennsylvania in the first place.” The funds were being used to support and expand the Pennsylvania Medication Algorithm Project (Penn-MAP), a protocol to diagnose and treat bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, ADHD and major depression. This protocol required doctors in all state facilities to treat these conditions with a new generation of drugs, called atypical antipsychotics, in preference to older, generic antipsychotic medications that had previously been prescribed. Jones discovered that the protocol was a carbon copy of one being used in Texas, TMAP, which Johnson & Johnson and other pharmaceutical companies had launched in the late 1990s, with generous funding to mental health officials, who in return had often helped market the drugs. Jones also found evidence that Johnson & Johnson, together with acquiescent state officials, was rolling out similar programs in at least ten other states.


The more Jones learned about these protocols, the more disturbing they seemed. They made Risperdal and other atypical antipsychotics the treatment of choice for a wide range of mental disorders. Since atypicals were far more expensive than first-generation antipsychotics—Risperdal cost about 45 times more than previous medications—Texas Medicaid payments for atypicals had skyrocketed from $28 million in 1997 to $177 million in 2004. The same was happening in Pennsylvania: between 2000 and 2003 alone, Medicaid spending for atypical antipsychotics rose by 55 percent.


Yet despite their cost, Jones discovered that much of the supposedly impartial medical research used by pharmaceutical marketers to convince state officials that Risperdal and other atypicals worked better than older medications had been ghostwritten by the pharmaceutical companies. Unbiased clinical trials not only suggested no increase in effectiveness but revealed serious side effects caused by atypicals, which the pharma-sponsored studies had downplayed. Risperdal could cause muscle spasms, medically serious weight gain, and an increased risk of diabetes, stroke, pituitary tumors and death. Patients on Risperdal might develop disfiguring and irreversible twitching of the face, torso and limbs. Some male patients grew lactating breasts, and required mastectomies. Though Johnson & Johnson apparently concealed major research from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the FDA knew enough about Risperdal to forbid the company from claiming that the drug was superior to earlier antipsychotics; to require warnings of the neurological side effects, weight gain and diabetes it could cause; and to impose, in one demographic, the agency’s strongest, or “black box,” warning, reserved for drugs with life-threatening side effects. The FDA approved extensive use of the drug only for adult schizophrenics. Johnson & Johnson, Jones found, had ignored many of these prohibitions, and downplayed or denied them in its marketing campaigns; in Texas, the company had aggressively marketed Risperdal for children, adolescents and elders, to treat anxiety, insomnia, mood disorders, agitation and mild emotional discomfort. In fact, the Texas protocol mandated Risperdal for these conditions in state prisons, hospitals, reform schools and nursing homes, whose captive patient populations had little or no say in their medical care. Now the company and Pennsylvania officials were starting to impose the same regime in Jones’s home state.


Thinking he might be misunderstanding the evidence, Jones traveled to Janssen headquarters in New Brunswick, New Jersey, to question marketing executives and company lawyers. Apparently dismissing him as a harmless paper-shuﬄer, they blandly confirmed his worst suspicions. “I’d never seen anything so blatant,” he remembers. “They had co-opted state healthcare, and were using it to sell billions of dollars of dangerous drugs in illegal ways.” Among the documents that Jones reviewed was a “drug usage evaluation” that Steven Fiorello, at the request of Janssen Pharmaceuticals, had performed on 756 diagnosed schizophrenics in eight Pennsylvania mental hospitals, who were given Risperdal or one of four other atypicals. Janssen then paid for Fiorello to fly to New Orleans and present this research to pharmacists from across the country. Behind the chill, clinical language, Jones saw evidence of terrible suffering. One patient on Risperdal had lost 59 pounds during the study, while another had gained 85 pounds. A patient on Zyprexa, an atypical produced by Eli Lilly, had gained 240 pounds. “Someone in a white coat sat by and watched those poor people, and jotted everything down,” Jones says. Certain patients exhibited extreme swings in serum glucose and cholesterol levels, putting them at high risk of diabetes, heart disease and other conditions. Stefan Kruszewski, a psychiatrist working as a reviewer at one of the hospitals, told Jones that he believed the deaths of several children in mental health facilities had been linked to the use of atypical antipsychotics.


Healthcare fraud, like other thefts of taxpayer dollars, creates countless victims, yet few of us see them. They are hidden behind a scrim of marketing and earnings reports and objective-looking research, presented by executives and researchers in suits and white lab coats who are clever and ambitious, perhaps a bit like us. This is the subtle treachery of corporate crime.


Jones knew firsthand what it meant to be invisible, powerless. He’d grown up at the end of a mile-long dirt road, in a solitary house in the middle of an apple orchard, with an outdoor privy and no hot water. When Jones was three, his father was hit by a car while helping another motorist; he was an invalid, in and out of hospital, for several years, and was left with permanent damage to his left arm and leg. His mother worked in a shoe factory and a chicken processing plant, and the rest of the time cared for his father. They ate souse, scrapple, occasionally chops or ham, and game shot by Jones and his relatives. His paternal grandmother, a stout, hard, profane woman straight out of Faulkner, stole the family Christmas tree from a tree farm one foggy December morning, and made squirrel stews that sometimes had fur and claws lurking at the bottom of the pot.


A hard life took its toll on Jones’s parents, and on their relationship with him. He was drawn to work with addicts and the mentally ill, he says, to “prevent others from living through the kind of things I had.” Once, after staying with a neighboring family of farmers for a couple of nights to help with chores, he called his mother to ask if he could stay a night or two longer. She brought a box of his clothes and told him, “Stay as long as you want.” Jones explains: “I learned to distance myself from them. I cared for them, but spent very little time with them.”


Instead, Jones worked. He tanned deer hides for five dollars a skin, planted and tended half-mile rows of tomatoes, and was a chaser at a local chicken ranch. In ultraviolet light the birds are blind to, he’d herd them to one end of a long barn and snatch them up, scratching and pecking, by a leg. “It was like a vision from hell,” he remembers. Later he began building houses up from the bare studs, and renovating dilapidated buildings with minimal cash down and lots of sweat equity. He’d built a house of his own by the time he was twenty-five.


Perhaps because of his solitary childhood, Jones sought out tight-knit communities. He often worked as a hired hand with local Amish farmers, and was the only “Englishman,” or non–Pennsylvania Dutch speaker, invited to several barn raisings. He was also drawn to outsiders and underdogs. The 1972 massacre of Israeli athletes at the Munich Olympics stunned and horrified him, and awakened an affinity for Israel. He moved to a military base in the central Galilee, and served two tours of duty as a civilian volunteer in the Israel Defense Forces, helping soldiers with nonmilitary jobs like painting and building repair. Although he was an atheist, he spent Shabbat weekends with Israeli families on nearby moshavim, and accompanied them to services.


Early in his stay, Chaim, the patriarch of his host family, pointed inland to the horizon. “See that line? That’s the Mediterranean.” He turned 180 degrees. “And that line? That’s the West Bank. This is the narrow waist of Israel. The people in those hills want to put us in that sea.” At the top of the hill on which the settlement was built stood a playground, a concrete defense tower at its center. At first, Jones wondered how Israel had survived, even prospered, in such adverse conditions. Gradually, he says, he understood. People lived with an intensity he’d never before experienced: “You have good food, you eat it,” an old Israeli man told him. “Cigarettes? You smoke them. Today, you live!” His host family led a communal existence utterly unlike his own solitary upbringing. “When they broke the bread together, I saw all the love and respect they showed to each other, and to Chaim. All the men at the table were soldiers; all the women were, too. And I said to myself, ‘Okay, so this is how Israel has survived.’ ”


Back in the States, Jones continued to be drawn to underdogs. After a few years at the newly founded Pennsylvania Office of the Inspector General (OIG), he took a job as a state probation and parole officer, where he specialized in working with addicts, foster children and the mentally ill. To this day, when he visits poor inner cities, he often buys two fast-food dinners and offers one to a homeless person, then coaxes out his new acquaintance’s story as they eat together. “I try to give them the respect and attention they deserve. I take them seriously. I guess I’ve always tried to stand up for the little guy, the person with no voice,” he says. “These are my people.”


Now, on his second tour of duty at the OIG, Jones knew that Pennsylvania, following Texas’s lead, had begun to medicate countless voiceless wards of the state with strong, unproven and potentially harmful chemicals, at huge cost to taxpayers and enormous profit to the pharma companies. He also knew this was the kind of wrongdoing the OIG had been created to fight.


Soon after his trip to New Jersey, the atmosphere at his office changed. His superiors instructed him to treat the case strictly as a personnel matter concerning Fiorello, and to stop investigating the pharmaceutical companies that were paying him. When Jones objected, his boss, Dan Sattele, told him, “Morally and ethically, you’re right, but politically this is dead.” Sattele suggested that the drug firms had purchased impunity by contributing money to state politicians in both parties. “These companies are very aggressive marketers. They write checks to both sides of the aisle.”


Nevertheless, Jones continued to gather evidence about the pharma protocol in Pennsylvania and Texas. He requested clearance to conduct interviews with officials in Corrections, the Department of Public Welfare, and other state agencies that also appeared to be receiving pharma money and taking part in the Pennsylvania protocol. Sattele refused. “These are not the good old days,” he told Jones. Then, visibly dejected, he added: “If you want to find waste, fraud and abuse, you don’t have to look outside the OIG. It’s all here.” (Sattele, in a later deposition, remembered their conversation differently, saying that Jones expressed frustrations—many of which Sattele shared—about changes that had occurred in the OIG since his first stint there. “Allen, accept the team concept,” Sattele says he told Jones. “Accept the attorneys are here to stay.”) Soon an order came down from the office of Tom Ridge, the Republican governor of Pennsylvania, to close the investigation and to shred Allen Jones’s fat dossier of corruption.


When Jones persisted in his pharma investigation, Henry Hart, the deputy inspector general, stopped at his cubicle and announced in a voice audible throughout the office that they needed to talk. He led Jones past the desks of the other investigators to the law library, where they sat in full view of the office. There he announced a “problem”: the office receptionist had accused Jones of sexual harassment, for which he could be disciplined or fired. Jones concluded that the charge had been fabricated as a way of shutting down his probe.


Later that day, in what Jones calls “a classic good cop–bad cop routine,” Dan Sattele took Jones aside in the lunchroom and asked him what had happened. Jones repeated what Hart had said, and told Sattele he was worried he would be fired. “Am I a marked man? Is there a conspiracy against me? What do I have to do?”


Sattele said there was no conspiracy against him among front-line investigators, though his eye contact and body language told Jones there was probably one higher up. “Quit being a salmon,” Sattele told him. “Quit swimming against the current with the pharmaceutical case. Go with the flow.”


It had taken Allen Jones nearly six months of “Oh my God” moments to reach this point. Now he made a rapid mental inventory. He had settled his parents in a comfortable home that he had built. His daughters had finished college and were financially independent. If he lost this job, he could still work construction for a living. He was free to act.


“But the odd thing was, even while I was running through these facts, I never actually felt there was a choice,” Jones remembers. “I’d just been ordered to go against the principle and mandate of my office, and to participate in the cover-up of corruption. I felt like a soldier who has received illegal orders. At the same time, I now knew that defenseless, mentally ill people were suffering and dying, and taxpayers were being ripped off by the pharma companies. Once I knew all this, I couldn’t let it go, or I’d have become complicit, and part of the moral responsibility for these crimes would have been mine. I realized I’d become a whistleblower.”


Jones pretended to submit to his superiors, while continuing his investigations of the drug companies as an undercover operative in his own office. “I was thinking, ‘You’re the enemy,’ ” he recalls. “ ‘And I’m going to prove what you’re doing, when you’re doing it, and why it’s wrong.’ ” Jones surreptitiously gathered more evidence about the protocols in Texas and Pennsylvania, and traced their deep political root structure. He sent letters detailing the fraud to the Department of Justice and the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) in Washington, DC, as well as to the attorneys general of Texas, Arkansas, Louisiana, Virginia, South Carolina and other states where Johnson & Johnson and its competitors were operating some version of the scheme. The DOJ and HHS took no action. Some states declined to investigate the case. Most simply did not answer.


Eventually, his bosses at the OIG discovered that Jones hadn’t stopped digging, and they relieved him of all investigative duties. But Jones was ready. He had made copies of the most incriminating documents in his case file. He published a lengthy “whistleblower document” on the Web, detailing his investigative findings about patient harm, pharmaceutical wrongdoing and corruption by state officials in Pennsylvania and Texas. He contacted patients’ rights advocates, who put him in contact with reporters at the New York Times, the British Medical Journal and other publications, where he gave interviews. In response, the leaders of the OIG assigned Jones to menial jobs and subjected him to a steady stream of intimidation and public humiliation. His officemates, even former friends, avoided him. “Everyone at work looked at me like I was a cobra,” he remembers. “I couldn’t have been more alone if they’d put me in the toilet.” His desk was searched, and members of his office formed what he termed the “Jones Strikeforce” to monitor his movements and communications. When he called in sick or took a day off, a squad car from the OIG appeared near his house; when he returned to work, a manager would question him: Who was he talking to outside the OIG? Was he under a subpoena? If so, was he testifying? “They kept trying to do things that would make me behave like them, so they could control me,” Jones says. “There was this huge disconnect—they just couldn’t conceive of a whistleblower identifying with the greater mission of the office, instead of blind loyalty to his bosses.”


Finally, on April 28, 2004, his superiors summoned Jones to a second-floor conference room. They placed him on administrative leave, took his badge and identity card, and told him to stay off OIG property. A security guard handed him a box containing a few belongings from his desk and escorted him out of the building. He still remembers the sharp, terminal click of the security door shutting behind him. Two months later, the OIG fired him for acts of insubordination: sharing confidential information with persons outside the OIG and speaking with the press.


Allen Jones knew he was a whistleblower. But how, he wondered, could he use his newfound status to fight against the OIG and a pharma multinational? Jones began a ten-year education in public and private whistleblowing, and in the complex and rapidly changing array of laws that both encouraged and protected it. In the process, he would walk the two very different legal paths that modern whistleblowing has taken in America.


With the help of lawyers at the Government Accountability Project (GAP), a nongovernmental organization based in Washington, DC, that has represented whistleblowers since 1976, Jones brought suit against Sattele, Henry Hart and other members of the Pennsylvania Office of the Inspector General. They had violated his First Amendment rights, he argued, by preventing him from speaking freely on two matters of urgent public concern: the wrongdoing by pharmaceutical companies that he had uncovered, and the OIG’s attempts to conceal that wrongdoing. Later, after being terminated by the OIG, he filed a second whistleblower retaliation suit for wrongful discharge.


“When Allen Jones came to us, he was in a very bad spot,” remembers Jason Zuckerman, one of the attorneys who defended Jones on behalf of GAP. “He was living in a cabin in the woods without indoor plumbing, and he didn’t have any money. He just barely got by. Once he was fired by the IG, he was both unemployed and unemployable.” (Recognizing the importance of the case, GAP represented Jones pro bono.)


Zuckerman was impressed by Jones’s commitment. “Whenever I meet with prospective clients, I try to go in with skeptical eyes, and ask a lot of hard questions. I didn’t really feel the need to take that approach with Allen. It was obvious, from the moment I met with him, that he was absolutely credible, and that he had put a lot on the line in order to do the right thing. This wasn’t about Allen. He was extremely concerned about all the kids and adults in the state mental hospitals who were being put on atypical antipsychotics, and as a result would be harmed for life, by diabetes or other complications. And it was clear that he was never going to back down, until the people who were doing it were held accountable.”


Zuckerman and his colleagues at GAP, on Jones’s behalf, filed a First Amendment suit, one of the oldest whistleblower defenses in the United States, whose guiding ethos predates the nation. On March 25, 1777, Marine captain John Grannis came before the Continental Congress to denounce crimes committed by Esek Hopkins, commander in chief of the Continental navy. Grannis spoke for himself and for nine other sailors and Marines who served aboard the USS Warren, a frigate in the Continental navy. He stated that Hopkins had treated British prisoners “in the most inhuman and barbarous manner”; negligently failed to intercept British shipping; and publicly ridiculed the members of the Congress as a “parcell of lawyers clerks” and “a pack of damned fools.” The Congress swiftly relieved Hopkins of his command, and when he jailed several of the whistleblowers for criminal libel and conspiracy, it unanimously issued the following act on July 30, 1778:




Resolved, that it is the duty of all persons in the service of the United States, as well as all other inhabitants thereof, to give the earliest information to Congress or other proper authority of any misconduct, frauds or misdemeanors committed by any officers or persons in the service of these states, which may come to their knowledge.





The Continental Congress, showing a clear understanding of the risks run by subordinates when they denounce powerful superiors, also ordered that Grannis and his shipmates receive any government documents they needed to defend themselves in court, pledged to pay their legal fees, and hired a distinguished attorney to represent them. The ten men eventually won their case and were reinstated, while the embittered Hopkins retired to private life.


This early law shows how central the basic tenets of whistleblowing were to the intellectual climate of Revolutionary America. In writing this law, and the First Amendment eleven years later, the Founders drew on two millennia of ancient thought about individual conscience, egalitarianism, free speech, and the citizen’s duty to denounce public wrongdoing. They knew the English Bill of Rights of 1689, with its stress on the “freedom of speech and debates” in Parliament, and John Milton’s defense of a free press in the Areopagitica forty-five years earlier. They likewise employed conceptions established during the Enlightenment and the Scientific Revolution, like Locke’s ideas on personal conscience and the social contract, and Galileo’s courageous stand for the objective truth of the heliocentric universe against the obscurantist, authoritarian pronouncements of the Inquisition. The Founders were also familiar with classical precedents for whistleblower-like behavior, particularly the free, bold speech against unjust power that the ancient Athenians called parrhesia, which Socrates famously defended to the death during his trial for impiety in Athens.


The Founders themselves were practicing these same principles in their wrenching break with Mother England and their Divine Monarch—a rejection of authority whose radicalism we can hardly imagine today. On the day they passed the law, British troops occupied New York, and George Washington and his fledgling Continental Army were fighting for survival in New Jersey. They knew well the danger that the USS Warren whistleblowers were running, for they, too, risked life and limb if their uprising failed. Repeatedly in their laws and writings, the Founders underscored the moral duty of virtuous dissent, and of following individual conscience against blind obedience to unjust, brutal rulers. “If the freedom of speech is taken away,” wrote George Washington, “then dumb and silent we may be led, like sheep to the slaughter.” Benjamin Franklin was more succinct: “Rebellion to tyrants is obedience to God.” The Founders had expressed similar sentiments a year earlier, in the Declaration of Independence, whose preamble stresses the “right” and the “duty” of citizens to overthrow unjust rulers, and the fundamental equality of all men. They set these precepts in still more binding form in the First Amendment, which made free speech and a free press the birthright of all American citizens.


This foundation for whistleblowing laid down by the Founders became actionable through a series of new laws and court rulings that began with the Civil Rights Act of 1871, progressed through the new civil rights era of the 1960s and 1970s, and has continued to evolve to the present day. By 1968, public servants who discovered wrongdoing at their jobs and were silenced by superiors could rely on a powerful First Amendment defense. This was the legal basis of Allen Jones’s claim against the Pennsylvania OIG. Now he had to win his case in court.


To help his lawyers, Jones wrote a series of memoranda describing corruption at his former employer, which reveal a taste for legal combat he’d developed as an investigator. Jones described the essential changes that had taken place at the OIG. The office had been created in 1987 by Governor Robert Casey, as an independent body required to “deter, detect, prevent, and eradicate waste, fraud, misconduct, and abuse” in all agencies under the governor’s jurisdiction, in a sense an institutional whistleblower force built into the state government. Shortly after taking over as governor in 1994, however, Tom Ridge stripped the OIG of its independence: before investigating a state agency, the office now had to obtain permission from that agency and approval from the governor’s office. The staff of special investigators was cut by two-thirds. Ridge instituted a new policy of shredding old case files, which might destroy valuable evidence. Lawyers who reported to the governor’s office began to keep careful watch on the OIG’s activities.


The result, Jones noted in a memorandum, was an office that had lost its original fraud-fighting mission and become a façade. Paraphrasing Leon Uris, he described the prevailing atmosphere in the Ridge-era OIG: “It is I against my brother—my brother and I against our father—our family against the tribe—the tribe against the nation—our nation against the world.” Most employees, he said, had forgotten the public interest they had sworn to protect; some, whom Jones called “the walking wounded,” had resigned themselves to playing the new game. His colleagues had made an example of him, Jones believed, in order to discourage other honest employees from coming forward with evidence of political corruption. For his part, Jones was determined to make an example of them, and to show other OIG employees how they, too, could expose and defeat such corruption. He wrote:




The only “fame” I desire is among government administrators who may be tempted to set aside their duty in service to corrupt politics. I would like them to “see” my face in their mind’s eye before they act—to have to consider that the person they are about to crush just might turn the tables on them. It would please me if middle managers everywhere invoked my name as a Boogeyman to frighten their children (and their bosses) into good behavior.





Despite expert help from GAP, as the litigation ground through the courts, one by one the defendants were granted immunity and Jones’s charges were pared back. Eventually, lawyers for the remaining defendants in his wrongful discharge case offered to settle it for $37,500. By now, Jones had been forced to sell the house he’d built for himself, and was living in a hunting cabin with plywood floors that he owned with a friend. “I felt that I was losing everything I’d built, everything in my life I cared about.” He accepted the settlement. After paying off creditors, replacing the tires on his pickup and filling his propane tanks for the winter, he was left with $1,200.


“Allen Jones had been a distinguished law enforcement officer for many years, but once he blew the whistle, it was all over—he was almost homeless,” says Jason Zuckerman. “I think his claim is a good response to what I hear out of the Chamber of Commerce and the Wall Street firms, that whistleblower laws create the wrong incentives, and provide a way for disloyal employees to get very wealthy overnight. That’s utter bullshit. The reality is that all of the whistleblowers I’ve worked with would probably have been ‘smarter,’ and served their economic interests better, just to look the other way. If you calculate what they would have earned if they’d kept below the radar and continued their professional careers, it would be a hell of a lot more money than they earned blowing the whistle.”


Worse, Jones was haunted by the knowledge of myriad helpless patients still being abused by pharmaceutical companies. Building walls to pay for food, Jones continued to investigate the various drug protocol schemes around the country. Eventually he learned of another whistleblower law that might allow him to bring suit against Johnson & Johnson in the name of the United States of America. It had been passed at the height of the Civil War, and at its heart was a Latin phrase that sounded like a sorcerer’s incantation: Qui tam pro domino rege quam pro se ipso in hac parte sequitur.


The phrase, which means, “He who sues on behalf of our Lord the King and on his own behalf,” originated in early medieval England, where the king, having no regular police unit, often relied on private individuals to help enforce his laws. The “qui tam” mechanism allowed common citizens to become private prosecutors and to bring suit on behalf of His Majesty, even when the Crown took no part in the proceedings. It also paid these citizens a bounty if they won the suit. The earliest known qui tam provision appears in a 695 declaration of King Wihtred of Kent: “If a freeman works during the forbidden time [i.e., the Sabbath], he shall forfeit his healsfang [i.e., pay a fine in lieu of imprisonment], and the man who informs against him shall have half the fine, and [the profits arising from] the labor.” Other qui tam provisions that accumulated over the centuries helped control the sale of wine at universities and the brewing of beer; the manufacture of clogs and other wooden shoes; the importation of silk and grain; the practice of games like kailes, half-bowls, hand in and hand out, and queckboard; together with what one legal commentator has called “a tawdry bag of poaching, bastardy and theft.” William Shakespeare’s father was sued, and perhaps ruined, by qui tam informers who accused him of usury and the illicit sale of wool. From the fourteenth century, an increasing number of qui tam laws enabled private persons to sue public officers, including mayors, sheriffs, bailiffs and customs officers, for negligence and for engaging in private business related to their public duties.


The thirteen British colonies in America adopted numerous English laws that contained a qui tam provision; at the First Congress in 1789, shortly after signing the Constitution, the Framers passed several qui tam laws of their own. But the most momentous private prosecutor law in America was enacted a century later, in 1863, when the Union army suffered from sweeping fraud by defense contractors. Two years earlier, at the beginning of the Civil War, the Union’s fledgling Department of Defense had rushed to equip a fighting force, at a moment when the North–South split was causing severe shortages in basic supplies like wool, horses and gunpowder. The result was, as one congressman put it, “a mania for stealing that ran from the general to the drummer boy.” When Brooks Brothers ran out of wool, the company began pressing rags together with glue to make “shoddy” uniforms, which, as the Sacramento Daily Union reported in 1861, “resolved themselves into their original elements within a week after being put on by the soldier.” Horse traders sold blind mules and lame horses to Army quartermasters at $110 a head; armorers supplied defective rifles that blew off soldiers’ thumbs at the first shot, then collected the weapons, repaired the defects, and sold them back to the Army at a markup. Artillery crews in the heat of battle pried open gunpowder barrels only to find them brimful of sawdust. Jim Fisk, a circus performer turned stockbroker who became one of the most notorious robber barons of the Gilded Age, made millions selling shoddy blankets and cardboard boots to the US military. “You can sell anything to the government,” he once bragged, “at almost any price you’ve got the guts to ask.’’


Abraham Lincoln detested such war profiteers, and agreed with New York congressman Charles H. Van Wyck, an abolitionist and vehement opponent of contract fraud, who wrote: “Worse than traitors in arms are the men who pretend loyalty to the flag, feast and fatten on the misfortunes of the nation, while patriotic blood is crimsoning the plains of the south and their countrymen are moldering in the dust.” At the beginning of the war, Van Wyck chaired a House Select Committee on Government Contracts, which questioned hundreds of witnesses and produced a long and lurid chronicle of defense chicanery. “Nearly every man who deals with the Government seems to feel or desire that it would not long survive,” Van Wyck observed, “and each had a common right to plunder it while it lived.”


To rein in such abuse, which threatened the Union war effort, in 1863 Senator Jacob M. Howard and a group of reform-minded congressmen sponsored the False Claims Act, a vigorous and inventive new fraud-fighting measure. The law fined offending contractors $2,000 for each misrepresentation, or “false claim,” that they made in their request for payment from the government. In addition, defendants were liable for double damages—they had to return to the Treasury twice what they had stolen. But the law’s most incisive feature was its qui tam provision, which allowed individuals to prosecute fraud with or without the government’s participation. Allowing private citizens to sue on behalf of their government was essential to the effectiveness of the False Claims Act, not only because no central law enforcement agency or Department of Justice yet existed, but also because high-ranking officials in the government, including Secretary of Defense Simon Cameron and Secretary of the Navy Gideon Welles, were implicated in the fraud. In return for insider information, the whistleblower, which the new law termed a “relator,” received 50 percent of the money recovered by that suit. Senator Howard explained that he favored the qui tam provision because “ ‘setting a rogue to catch a rogue’ . . . is the safest and most expeditious way I have ever discovered of bringing rogues to justice.”


Lincoln championed the law, urging Congress to send an army of “citizen soldiers” against corrupt military contractors and their creatures within the government. After Congress passed the False Claims Act by a generous majority, it became known as the “Lincoln Law.”


Predictably, defense companies disliked the new act and eventually found a way to defang it, with help from the executive branch. In 1943, with the United States deep in World War II, leading contractors urged Congress to repeal the law, claiming that it impeded their ability to deliver vital war matériel. Attorney General Francis Biddle agreed. Biddle had learned that a few enterprising lawyers had begun hanging around courthouses, copying criminal complaints as soon as they were filed by the Department of Justice and refiling them as civil False Claims Act lawsuits. Although these new lawsuits often resulted in further recoveries for the Treasury, Biddle viewed them as dishonest. “Informers’ suits have become mere parasitical actions, occasionally brought only after law-enforcement offices have investigated and prosecuted persons guilty of a violation of law and solely because of the hope of a large reward.” He petitioned Congress to eliminate the qui tam provision, arguing not only that it enabled parasitic behavior but that such meddling by private attorneys general could harm the war effort. Biddle asserted that the DOJ should be in complete control of all litigation that concerned the federal government.


Senator William Langer of North Dakota, a lawyer like Biddle, objected. “What harm can there be if 10,000 lawyers in America are assisting the Attorney General of the United States in digging up war frauds?” In fact, he pointed out, the DOJ had not diligently pursued fraudulent defense contractors, though their crimes often endangered soldiers’ lives. But the law’s opponents won the day: although Congress didn’t repeal the FCA entirely, it curtailed the role of the relator, cut the potential bounty and added a “government knowledge” clause that required the dismissal of all cases in which the wrongdoing had previously been known to a public official—which was almost always true. The defense contractors and the DOJ had succeeded in neutralizing the FCA.


Yet while imaginative lawyers, by angering Attorney General Biddle, had led to the weakening of the act, forty years later, during a further season of defense scandals, another such lawyer found a way to revitalize the law and turn it into the US government’s most powerful fraud-fighting tool.


John Phillips first heard of the False Claims Act in 1983, as he sat in a breezy, light-filled office in Century City, the headquarters of the Center for Law in the Public Interest (CLIPI). The office bore little resemblance to a law firm, though it was a step up from CLIPI’s original location in a strip mall, where the Formica furniture and orange shag carpet had exuded a lingering fug of fried food from the burger joint next door. Phillips had cofounded the Center in 1971, having left the august law firm of O’Melveny & Myers after revealing, in a case he’d taken pro bono without telling the firm’s partners, that their biggest client, Union Oil, had broken the law by secretly funding a referendum against public transportation. Three other O’Melveny associates also left the firm with Phillips to cofound CLIPI.


The firm’s shabby-chic office was one of many iconoclastic moves. “At first we had virtually no money, except a small grant from the Ford Foundation,” Phillips remembers. “We hardly had jobs at all, because public interest law was in its infancy. So we took the cheapest offices we could find. But the contrast with the oakpaneled gravitas of big law firms really worked. It signaled to everyone that we weren’t just doing your average lawyering, but were up to something different.”


Just so: Phillips isn’t your average lawyer. He’s lean and tanned and voluble, and seems restless until he hears an idea that really interests him. Then his jaw and his posture firm, and his eyes get the distant, inward-looking commitment of a marathoner at the starting line, as he latches on to the idea, teasing out ways make it better. Some of his ideas come from deep left field. “One time John decided that pregnant women being forced to carry babies for nine whole months was cruel and unusual, a kind of slavery,” his wife, Linda Douglass, a former distinguished television journalist and director of communications for the White House Office of Health Reform under Barack Obama, told me. “He talked with a bunch of biotech experts, and generated some interesting theories. Including bringing babies to term in the uteruses of cows.” She cocked her head pertly and watched my reaction, while Phillips held his chin with a hint of contrition.


“That idea never got much traction!” Douglass cackled. You could see from Phillips’s expression, tinged with wistfulness and tenacity, that he hadn’t completely given up on it. “Tricky to put all the pieces of the puzzle together, sure,” he said quietly, almost to himself. “But something like this still could work.”


Phillips has a flair for calculated rebellion. As a boy barely able to see over the dashboard, he borrowed cars from his father’s Ford dealership and drove them around woodlots in Leechburg, the coal and steel town in western Pennsylvania where he grew up. Around ten o’clock in the evening he’d often drive down to the Elks Club to collect his father, who’d been drinking there for hours and was usually in no condition to drive himself home. Upon graduating from high school in 1960, he enlisted in the army, rather than risk being drafted after college. He reported for duty to Fort Knox, Kentucky, but learned when he arrived that there weren’t enough empty bunks in the barracks; he and his fellow recruits had to stand in formation in the courtyard all night. “I’ve never been so cold,” he remembers, obviously still irritated. “Can you imagine? Your first day in the service of your country, and you spend it standing in the cold like an idiot?” The next year, starting a new tour of duty at Fort Benning, Georgia, he discovered that his name was missing from the roll call roster. For the first three months, while his comrades in arms went through basic training, he read philosophy in the local library, returning to the barracks for dinner and sleep. Later, the recruits’ belongings were being pilfered while they trained, so he set a trap with ink-stained money and caught the culprit, a cook’s assistant; when the commanding officer refused to discipline the thief, Phillips wrote one of his congressmen and had the officer reprimanded. After the army, he earned a degree in government and international studies at Notre Dame, then attended law school at the University of California at Berkeley, at that time a nexus of protests against the Vietnam War.


When Dupont Circle was still druggy and dangerous, he bought the Blaine Mansion, the enormous 1881 residence on the Circle that is now his Washington residence and the headquarters of his law firm, Phillips & Cohen. He fell in love with Borgo Finocchieto, an abandoned hilltop village in the Tuscan countryside, bought it all, and, with eight years of effort and expense, restored it into an oasis in the sky. His eye for future value is occasionally off. He was an early investor in Theranos, the biotech company that seemed poised to revolutionize laboratory blood testing and reap a fortune before the company’s leaders were charged with massive civil and criminal fraud. But far more often than not, his risks pay off. The False Claims Act certainly did, and handsomely.


Phillips’s rebelliousness, tenacity, entrepreneurialism and strategic brilliance all helped CLIPI win a series of landmark cases in civil rights and First Amendment rights, environmental quality, consumer protection and affordable housing. When the City of Los Angeles ran the Century Freeway through some of its poorest neighborhoods, evicting thousands of residents, Phillips and his partners sued the city for civil rights and environmental violations, forced the construction of high-quality replacement housing, and eventually caused the freeway to be redesigned. They blocked the construction of nuclear power plants, saved public art masterpieces from demolition and championed the rights of blacks and women in the Los Angeles Police Department and in private sector jobs. After the Watergate investigators revealed that the defense giant Northrop had given $50,000 to the Nixon administration, some of which had gone to the Watergate burglars as hush money, CLIPI sued Northrop for illegal use of corporate funds, and eventually got Tom Jones, the Northrop president and CEO, to admit under oath that his company routinely paid bribes to foreign governments to secure contracts, in order to keep pace with competitors like Lockheed, who were doing the same. The revelation made nationwide news, triggered Senate hearings on defense contracting fraud, and led to the passage of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, a potent statute against corporate bribery abroad. Phillips also pioneered a new California law that could force defendants to pay the plaintiff’s attorney fees if the suit served the public good. “CLIPI was a fantastic job,” Phillips says. “I’d found a way to do good, and to do well doing it.”


In 1981, however, soon after an assailant shot John Lennon at point-blank range with five hollow-point bullets from a .38 Special, the ever-restless Phillips went on a leave of absence from his firm, cashed out his pension fund and took up arms against the National Rifle Association. He drafted Proposition 15, a California initiative to freeze new handgun sales, which received statewide support and was endorsed by Tom Bradley, the popular mayor of Los Angeles who was running on the same ballot to become the state’s first black governor. Four months before the election, pollsters predicted that Prop 15 would pass by a 2-to-1 margin, and gave Bradley an insurmountable 7-point lead.


Then the NRA arrived. Pro-gun activists launched a $7 million fear campaign among white rural inhabitants of California’s Central Valley, many of whom owned guns. They ran television ads in which armed, black-swathed burglars broke in on defenseless white grannies. They set up voter registration centers in gun stores throughout the state, and signed up three hundred thousand new voters. Prop 15 was voted down overwhelmingly, and Tom Bradley lost by a narrow margin.


In 1983, sitting in Century City after the NRA debacle, Phillips tried to reinvent himself once more. He asked an aide at CLIPI to assemble a list of little-known statutes that might be enhanced to create leverage against corporate power. Halfway down the list he found a nearly defunct nineteenth-century statute with a curious Latin phrase. Though in much-watered-down form, the False Claims Act still existed in the US legal code in 1983. And one case was currently working its way through the courts, brought by a three-hundred-pound machinist and Vietnam combat veteran, Jack Gravitt, against General Electric, then the nation’s largest corporation and a leading defense contractor, which Gravitt accused of defrauding the federal government to the tune of $40 million. Phillips called Gravitt’s lawyer, a young Cincinnati employment attorney named Jim Helmer, who explained that the DOJ was attempting to end the case with a patently inadequate $264,000 settlement with General Electric, and was threatening both Helmer and Gravitt with legal action if they didn’t go along.


Phillips was riveted. At that moment, the defense industry was embroiled in public scandals as virulent as those of 1863, when Abraham Lincoln had signed the original False Claims Act. Forty-five of the top hundred defense contractors were under investigation for multiple offenses, and four of the largest—General Electric, Rockwell, GTE and Gould—had been convicted of criminal fraud. The Department of Defense, under Caspar Weinberger, was being ridiculed for paying $640 for toilet seats on military planes. Lincoln had signed the original law to stop army and navy contractors from stealing taxpayer dollars, but also to push complacent or complicit government agencies to act. Phillips wondered: Could the Lincoln Law be revived and fortified to fight modern defense fraud? Could its all-important qui tam provision force the DOJ to discipline politically powerful fraudsters? Could Ronald Reagan be made to understand that private whistleblowers teaming up with prosecutors to recover taxpayer dollars was an ideal example of his vaunted public-private partnership?


Qui tam pro domino rege quam pro se ipso in hac parte sequitur. As John Phillips murmured the Latin phrase, his eyes got that familiar faraway look.


________


Eighteen months later, Phillips had achieved the impossible. He had persuaded a coalition of left-leaning Democrats and hard-right Republicans to join forces and amend the False Claims Act, reversing the damage done to the law during World War II and adding sharp new penalties, anti-retaliation protection for whistleblowers, and a stronger qui tam provision that made relators a formal party to their cases, allowing them to object to inadequate settlements and to prosecute cases alone when the government declined to intervene. The revitalized law guaranteed whistleblowers between 15 and 30 percent of funds recovered in successful cases; wrongdoers in these cases were also required to pay the whistleblowers’ legal bills.


The coalition was led by Chuck Grassley, the conservative Republican senator from Iowa, and Howard Berman, a liberal Democratic congressman from California. Polar opposites on most social issues, together they were a political odd couple of formidable energy and reach. When I asked Grassley, who receives millions of dollars in contributions from large corporations, why he backed a law that, according to many of his fellow Republicans, stacks the deck against American industry and enriches a lot of clever lawyers, he smiled his tart, preacherly smile. “I’m no enemy of corporations, and I’m certainly no great friend of lawyers,” he said. “But this law just works. It breaks the fraud cycle.”


A closer look at Grassley’s record reveals telltale anomalies that have made him whistleblowing’s most effective champion in Congress for the last four decades. He’s known for his attentiveness to ordinary citizens and regularly meets with Iowa farmers, housewives and small business owners visiting Washington even when he has ostensibly more significant work on his DC calendar. He is a tireless watchdog against abuse of authority by the executive branch. “Senator Grassley firmly believes that individuals have a right of conscience, and that they need to be protected from bureaucratic uniformity and repression,” says Ralph Nader, who over the years has fought many battles both with and against Grassley. “He loves civil servants who have conscience and speak out.”


Above all, Chuck Grassley hates fraud, waste and abuse. Though pharma and healthcare companies help bankroll his elections, he has pursued Medicare corruption more relentlessly than anyone else in Washington. Grassley sees whistleblowing as a way of fighting fraud and protecting the individual simultaneously: of allowing individual citizens to make themselves heard by Big Government and Big Business alike. Since he first came to Washington as an Iowa representative in 1975, he has helped pass more than thirty whistleblower laws and provisions against both corporate and government misconduct, ranging from air safety to healthcare, shareholder rights to national security.


“Whistleblowing is a great act of courage and patriotism, yet all too often, whistleblowers are treated like a skunk at a picnic,” Grassley says. “The Founding Fathers recognized whistleblowing as one of the central rights, and duties, of the citizen to his society. This is about individuals healing the disease of bureaucracy and public thievery.”


On September 17, 1985, at the height of public outrage over defense contract fraud, Grassley chaired hearings before a subcommittee of the Senate Judiciary Committee that paved the way for the False Claims Act amendments—the opening salvo in a bitter war over whistleblowing that continues to this day. An odd assortment of witnesses had gathered for the event. Jack Gravitt, the Purple Heart recipient and whistleblower against General Electric, sat at the front of the room, beside attorney Jim Helmer and not far from John Phillips. Nearby were two senior Department of Justice officials, Jay Stephens and Stuart Schiffer, who soon made clear that the DOJ, as the prosecutorial arm of the executive branch, opposed the new law even more vehemently than GE did.


“Contractor fraud may well be the world’s second oldest profession,” Grassley said in his opening statement. “Certainly after 122 years of experience with contract fraud in this country, the U.S. government should have come to grips with how to solve this age-old problem.” In an obvious swipe at the DOJ, Grassley continued, “If we wish to deal effectively with rampant fraud, we must ask ourselves if the current system is institutionally capable of doing that. The evidence suggests it is not.”


Jay Stephens countered that Justice was actually doing an excellent job at fighting defense fraud, and that a stronger False Claims Act would hamper its work. The law, he said, was an anachronism from a time when the United States had no central investigative force; now that the DOJ and the FBI existed, most qui tam whistleblowers were parasitic “bounty hunters” who interfered with legitimate law enforcers and ultimately provided little useful evidence of wrongdoing. Finally, Stephens suggested that the act was unconstitutional. (This followed an earlier legal opinion, written by Assistant Attorney General William Barr, according to whom the False Claims Act, with its crucial qui tam clause, represented “a devastating threat to the Executive’s constitutional authority and to the doctrine of separation of powers.”) Stephens and his colleague Stuart Schiffer concluded that they were “quite proud” of the DOJ’s record of prosecuting defense contractors without the False Claims Act.


“It seems like every Department of Justice witness paints a rosy picture [of their prosecutions],” Chuck Grassley observed drily, “even though the evidence contradicts what they say.” Then he introduced John Gravitt, whose experiences as a plaintiff against General Electric demonstrated why the False Claims Act needed fixing—not least because the DOJ had been winking at fraud. Gravitt testified that GE was overbilling the Department of Defense with counterfeited time stamps at its Evendale, Ohio, aircraft engine plant, where he worked. Yet his numerous, detailed reports of this fraud, which amounted to $40 million over five years, had been ignored by his bosses and later by the Defense Department. The only concrete outcome of Gravitt’s actions was to get himself fired.


As a last resort, Gravitt had brought a false claims suit against GE, but the DOJ’s response had been to arrange a tiny settlement with the company, for a fraction of what it had stolen. When Gravitt and Helmer announced that Gravitt intended to pursue the case alone, as a false claims relator, the DOJ promptly opened a civil case against GE, which under the terms of the 1943 amendments to the False Claims Act blocked Gravitt from proceeding against the company. Then the DOJ closed the investigation. A senior DOJ lawyer threatened to prosecute the two men criminally if they didn’t drop their suit.


Gravitt, who had been badly injured in battle near Da Nang, told the committee that he had brought his suit mainly for patriotic reasons—“to force General Electric to stop overcharging the taxpayers and the US government”—and expressed baﬄement at the DOJ’s obstructionism. “It appears they don’t want somebody doing their job for them,” he said, “but it is quite evident from what we have seen thus far with the situation at General Electric that somebody hasn’t done their job for a long, long time.” He urged Congress to pass the amendments, including a strengthened qui tam provision.


Helmer agreed, stressing that the amendments were needed to protect whistleblowers from retaliation, curtail widespread fraud, and prevent the DOJ from striking sweetheart deals with powerful contractors. “So long as Mr. Gravitt is not involved, nothing prevents the United States Government and General Electric Company from ‘settling’ his case for a nominal amount to avoid adverse publicity concerning defense procurement efforts,” Helmer said. If, on the other hand, relators like Gravitt were allowed to take an active part in their litigation, they “could act as watchdogs over taxpayers’ funds and ensure that fraudulent contractors pay an appropriate amount of damages.”


Six weeks later, on a groundswell of popular resentment against defense fraud, Congress amended the venerable False Claims Act as Phillips, Gravitt and Helmer had urged. However, the new law still needed the president’s signature; Congress had adjourned, and if Reagan didn’t sign the bill within ten days, it would automatically die by pocket veto. As days went by and Reagan didn’t sign, the law’s proponents began to wonder whether the defense lobby, which had long enjoyed Reagan’s favor, had convinced him to veto it. “That was an extremely stressful time,” John Phillips remembers. “We pulled out all the stops. I notified the press, and they asked Reagan whether he was being pressured by contractors. Chuck Grassley and his staff called everyone they knew.” Finally, on October 27, a day before the veto took effect, Ronald Reagan signed the revised act into law aboard Air Force One.


The amendments reversed the changes made in 1943 and added important new provisions. They prescribed substantial penalties, which have since been increased: a company or person found guilty must repay three times the amount that they stole, plus a minimum of $11,463 for each of their false claims, which typically are contracts to provide the government with goods or services that, in reality, were never provided. Depending on factors including the quality and quantity of the evidence that the relator supplied, he or she is eligible to collect between 15 and 30 percent of the total funds recovered for the state or national Treasury. The lawyers of a successful relator also receive their expenses from the defendant—the fraudster—as well as a portion of the relator’s share.


Despite its passage into law, and its obvious merits as a fraud-fighting tool, large sections of the federal government, particularly the DOJ, remained hostile to the new FCA. Two years later, DOJ lawyers argued before the Supreme Court that qui tam was unconstitutional and unnecessary, and that the FCA should be repealed. The court rejected their arguments, noting among other things that numerous laws containing qui tam provisions had been passed by the same men who had written the Constitution—how then could qui tam be unconstitutional?


Since then, the FCA has weathered many more juridical storms, and it remains at the heart of a fierce debate within American society, between two different visions of justice.


The premise of the 1986 False Claims Act—that insiders could reveal fraud and collect a reward for the consequent career and legal risks they ran—was later embodied, often at Chuck Grassley’s prompting, in a series of state laws designed to encourage and protect qui tam whistleblowers. One of these, a Texas law to fight healthcare fraud, ultimately provided the legal tools that Allen Jones used against Johnson & Johnson. If the company had lied about Risperdal’s effectiveness and real costs when it sold the drug to state healthcare authorities or to Medicaid and Medicare, then it had made wrongful representations, or “false claims”; like the shoddy contractors during the Civil War, Johnson & Johnson had defrauded taxpayers and could be brought to justice. Even if the federal government or a state attorney general chose not to intervene—and Jones had already uncovered enough collusion by state employees to understand why this might occur—the Texas Medicaid Fraud Prevention Act had the crucial qui tam provision that would allow him to prosecute the case himself as a private attorney general. But Jones had limited legal experience and no money: he needed lawyers at the state or federal level who understood the legal labyrinth of qui tam whistleblowing to run—and to fund—his case.


After the DOJ, federal healthcare officials and several state attorneys general declined to take the case, Jones finally found someone who listened. Charles Siegel, a lawyer at the Dallas firm of Waters & Kraus, which had some false claims experience, was impressed by Jones’s account. Siegel introduced Jones to Tom Melsheimer, a former federal prosecutor and standout trial lawyer at Fish & Richardson, a large litigation firm that had the deep pockets required to pursue a whistleblower case on a contingency basis, and the connections with the Texas state government necessary to enlist the support of the attorney general. Melsheimer and Jones met Cynthia O’Keeffe, a senior lawyer in the state’s Civil Medicaid Fraud Division. “My first impression of Allen was that he looked a lot like Chuck Norris in Walker, Texas Ranger, a popular TV show,” says O’Keeffe in her clear East Texas soprano. “I was sitting there thinking, ‘This is so ironic! This guy looks like Walker, Texas Ranger, but he’s from Pennsylvania, and here he is telling us about what’s going on down here in Texas.’ I saw right away that he was very credible and very earnest, but the scheme he was describing was so huge and complex that I couldn’t help wondering, ‘Can this all be true?’ At the time I didn’t think it could be. It seemed too fantastic.”


Nevertheless, O’Keeffe felt that the seriousness of Jones’s allegations required a thorough investigation by her office. Like Jones, she had a personal stake in the case. Before joining the AG’s office, she’d worked for twenty years as a family lawyer, where she’d devoted herself to protecting vulnerable children. “I was absolutely horrified to think that foster children in Texas might have been targeted, that they were part of the marketing plan for this project,” she remembers. “I could not have slept at night if we didn’t bring this to light.” O’Keeffe formed a team of lawyers and investigators from various departments in the Texas AG’s office. Together they began interviewing state employees and perusing an ever-growing stream of documents. They traveled to DOJ headquarters in Washington to pore over twenty more boxes of documents subpoenaed from Johnson & Johnson in a related case. Soon O’Keeffe sent the company a civil investigative demand, which yielded another three hundred boxes. “Our team was there with those documents every day, every week, every month, for a whole year. And that’s what convinced us that Allen Jones was right. We went in thinking he wasn’t, but after we’d investigated for a while, we realized that the vast majority of what Allen brought to us was actually documented in the evidence, and we could prove it to a jury. That he could figure it all out with only two banker’s boxes of documents is a testament to what a fantastic investigator he is.”


In the end, on O’Keeffe’s recommendation, state attorney general Greg Abbott joined the case on behalf of the State of Texas, and sued Johnson & Johnson under the Texas Medicaid Fraud Prevention Act. In doing so, the state and Allen Jones formed an alliance that is vital to private whistleblowing, and explains much of its success. Texas supplied investigative clout, legal acumen and public credibility, while Jones, as relator, provided insider knowledge, expert document analysis and a willingness to testify in court. Jones also brought veteran lawyers at law firms with the staff and money required to litigate the case, and the trial experience to succeed before a jury. “Cynthia told me that she wanted and expected us to do a lot of heavy lifting on the case,” says Tom Melsheimer, whose firm eventually spent about $20 million in staff time and direct expenses. “They did an enormous amount of work on their own, but in such a huge case, it was essential for all of us to work side by side, as a team.” Fish & Richardson hired several expert witnesses, which would have been difficult for the Texas AG’s office to do, given its limited funds and time-consuming bureaucracy. Melsheimer brought in famed Austin trial attorney Tommy Jacks, who together with Patrick Sweeten, a senior lawyer in the AG’s Civil Division, led most of the 140 depositions across the country. “We were building a wall, a brick at a time,” Sweeten says.


Finally, Melsheimer introduced Jones to a young associate in his firm, Natalie Arbaugh, slender, blond, petite, with a husky contralto and a clear green gaze. Jones met Arbaugh high in a glass-sided Dallas skyscraper one chilly winter day in 2004; as his day-to-day counsel and confidante, she soon became one of the most important people in his life. Arbaugh explained to Jones the basics of being a whistleblower, including the bounty provision, which seemed to surprise him. “One of the things that immediately struck me about Allen was that he had clearly gone into this process with no idea he could make money out of it,” Arbaugh says. “He was just trying to do the right thing. I believe he would have proceeded even without the money. But the fact is, the chance of substantial monetary rewards allows whistleblowers who don’t have Allen’s rock-solid convictions, or who have more economic risk, to take a chance on behaving ethically.” The prospect of a large bounty also enables a law firm like Fish & Richardson to invest millions of the firm’s dollars on the expectation that they will eventually prevail—and profit.


Another surprise for Jones was the secrecy that enveloped his case as soon as it was filed. False claims complaints are filed under seal, meaning that the defendant is not notified of the charges, and the whistleblower is forbidden to discuss the case, or even mention its existence, with anyone save his lawyers. The seal is designed to allow the government to investigate a case thoroughly without alerting the defendant and, where appropriate, to run a parallel criminal investigation. It’s also intended to protect the whistleblower from retaliation. At the same time, however, the seal places relators in a psychological pressure cooker, expressly forbidding them from speaking about something that is usually the dominant concern in their lives. For Jones, who until that moment had been doing everything he could to call attention to big pharma’s wrongdoing, the transition was a shock. “My neighbors used to say I was living up here in my cabin like a hermit, that I’d gotten into big trouble, and it had something to do with drugs.” His smile fades, and he adds somberly, “It was hard not to be able to explain to people what I was up to. That I wasn’t just some washed-up fifty-something guy who’d been fired from his job.”


He had to keep his secret for eight years, a period in his life he calls the “dark times,” during which he and his lawyers painstakingly built cases in Texas and elsewhere, while the rest of his life collapsed. He went through a bitterly contested divorce from his wife. When he wasn’t poring over documents from his court cases or combing the internet for “pharma whores”—doctors and researchers who took pharmaceutical money in return for marketing drugs—whom he tabulated in enormous Excel spreadsheets, Jones continued to work construction jobs for cash, laying stone in the bitter Pennsylvania winters and blazing summers until his hands bled. As his debts mounted, he borrowed money from friends, skipped meals to economize, shot a deer when he could. “I was always glad for that protein,” he remembers.


The economic and psychological vulnerability of whistleblowers, the strictures of the seal, and the duration of many false claims cases, some of which last over a decade, lead whistleblowers to seek support in a range of places. Jones found strength in a late-blooming religious faith of which he’d had the first inklings during his stay in Israel. “I saw the sincere worship of Christians, Muslims and Jews in some of their holiest places. And I realized there wasn’t that much difference between a Jew davening in prayer chambers in the Wailing Wall and a Muslim a few hundred feet away, prostrating in the Dome of the Rock. All were expressing their love and fealty to God. I was still an atheist then. But God had found me before I found Him.”


He came to believe that God had given him a mission to reveal wrongdoing in the pharmaceutical industry. “I felt that He opened up a door, and asked me to step through. And that He enabled me to do it—gave me the necessary blend of talents, skills and determination. God gifts everybody differently. He gave me the ability to look at disparate facts and see a larger order, how things are interrelated. Which is what I brought to the document analysis, the discovery requests, the FOIA requests and the other work I did in my cases.”


Many whistleblowers also form strong, symbiotic relationships with their lawyers, as Jones did with Natalie Arbaugh. “She was the one who kept me sane through the dark times,” Jones says. “She was always the one to call when there was bad news.” Tom Melsheimer agrees. “A lawyer for a whistleblower is not just a lawyer: they’re often a psychologist, a therapist, a marriage counselor, a dietician, and any number of other things that Natalie got called upon to assist Allen with.” When destitute relators lose their homes, their attorneys have been known to take them in for months on end, like kinfolk fallen on hard times. “Once we had a relator and her son living with us, along with an Ethiopian kid we’d adopted,” remembers Mary Louise Cohen, cofounder of Phillips & Cohen and a pioneering false claims attorney. “So many people were in and out of our house that we called it ‘Camp Cohen’ or ‘Casa Chaos.’ Bruce, my husband, just rolled with the punches.”


Gradually Jones’s work brought results. In Pennsylvania, Steven Fiorello was convicted on felony conflict-of-interest charges, and the state’s mental health director, Steven Karp, resigned. Most important, the Pennsylvania protocol itself was dismantled. Jones began working as a consultant on a series of false claims cases, personal injury suits and multidistrict litigation lawsuits that were being brought against pharma companies by other whistleblowers. He supplied vital insights on how the companies had subverted state healthcare systems and defrauded government programs.


Jones embraced the role of whistleblower. “Having worked with addicts as a probation officer helped me a lot,” he says. “Addicts have to fight the beast of their addiction, and keep beating it back when it raises its ugly head. For me, my condition as a whistleblower and the fraud I had uncovered were like fighting the beast. I kept swinging, which sustained me. Despite the financial and emotional hardship, I was never just a victim.” He made several trips to Washington to discuss healthcare fraud with aides of Chuck Grassley, who, as the chair of the Senate Finance Committee, had launched a major investigation of illicit funding of scientists and medical schools by pharmaceutical companies. Jones met people who had lost relatives to mass murders and suicides apparently sparked by antidepressant use, which several clinical trials had linked to violent acts and suicidal ideation. “I met widows trying to make sense of the suicide of their husbands. I met parents shattered by the loss of a child, including the parents of a kid shot eleven times at Columbine. If you could comprehend all their grief in an instant, it would crush you utterly, annihilate you.”


As legal discovery continued, internal documents from Johnson & Johnson and other pharmaceutical companies poured in. Jones, Fish & Richardson and several expert witnesses analyzed ten million pages of data, and explained in lay terms what it meant. Gradually the contours of the fraud emerged, more massive and malignant than anyone had imagined.


Johnson & Johnson had systematically created the medical and scientific environment necessary to turn Risperdal, a medication with stringent FDA-imposed limits on the diseases and age groups it could be used to treat, into what the company called a “$2 billion brand.” To overcome the uncomfortable medical realities of the drug—negligible therapeutic improvements over earlier antipsychotics and dangerous new side effects—Johnson & Johnson had paid illustrious MDs to serve as “key opinion leaders,” helping to create a false scientific consensus on Risperdal’s superiority among doctors, patients, advocacy groups and third-party payers (such as Medicaid).


Next, the company devised a treatment protocol to push their future blockbuster. According to internal company documents, as early as May 1995, Johnson & Johnson began discussing the creation of treatment guidelines for schizophrenia with three key opinion leaders in psychiatry: Dr. Allen Frances, who chaired both the Department of Psychiatry at the Duke University School of Medicine and the influential American Psychiatric Association’s Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM); Dr. David Kahn of the Columbia University Medical School; and Dr. John Docherty of the Cornell Medical College. The three doctors founded their own company, Expert Knowledge Systems (EKS), which in tight collaboration with Johnson & Johnson surveyed eighty-seven opinion leaders in psychiatry, all selected by them and by Johnson & Johnson, whose responses they used to formulate treatment guidelines. These guidelines, which Johnson & Johnson self-published in the fall of 1996 as a supplement to the Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, made Risperdal the first- or second-choice treatment for all schizophrenia patients.


Johnson & Johnson paid the three doctors over $600,000 to conduct the survey, compose the guidelines, and publicize them. EKS sent sixty thousand copies of the guidelines to various influential “decision makers,” including high prescribers of antipsychotics, psychiatric residents in training, and officials at Medicaid and other third-party payers. The commitment of Drs. Frances, Kahn and Docherty to the commercial goals of their sponsor was striking. “Janssen and EKS share a vision of effective healthcare . . . ,” they wrote. “We are also committed to helping Janssen succeed in its effort to increase its market share and visibility in the payor, provider, and consumer communities. . . . EKS is now ready to move forward in a strategic partnership with Janssen: We are now ready to maximize the impact of the guideline on clinical practice with a range of educational and implementation programs designed to facilitate your strategic marketing plan.” They traveled the country to promote the guidelines that they and their corporate sponsor had created. In all, the company paid the doctors almost $1 million for their services.


In 2002, Johnson & Johnson opened another front in its consensus-building efforts concerning Risperdal. In partnership with Harvard Medical School professor Joseph Biederman, then perhaps the world’s most influential child psychiatrist, the company founded a research center for child and adolescent psychiatry at Massachusetts General Hospital, with Biederman as its director. One of the center’s three stated research aims, according to its 2002 annual report, was to “move forward the commercial goals of J. & J.” In 2002 alone, according to court documents, the company paid Biederman at least $700,000. An investigation by Chuck Grassley’s staff revealed that, between 2000 and 2007, Biederman had received an additional $1.6 million in “consulting” and “speaking” fees from Johnson & Johnson and other drug companies, which he hadn’t disclosed, in violation of federal law and university regulations. Between 1994 and 2003, in part thanks to the work of such prominent researchers, the diagnosis of pediatric bipolar disorder increased by 4,000 percent, which in turn drove the sales of expensive, powerful drugs with serious side effects for use on children. Johnson & Johnson was employing a familiar—and highly profitable—strategy used by many other pharmaceutical companies: not just to invent new drugs to cure existing diseases, but to create new diseases for their existing drugs.


Texas turned out to be the ideal state in which to roll out treatment guidelines driven more by marketing than by science. The company had cultivated strong ties with leaders in the University of Texas medical community, as well as with Medicare and Medicaid officials, and together with other pharmaceutical companies had donated generously to numerous prominent politicians. Such connections were particularly valuable in a notoriously political state, where the regents and administrators of state universities, hospitals and prisons are routinely nominated by the governor. What’s more, Texas had enormous prison, juvenile detention and state mental hospital populations, all ripe targets for Risperdal.


Through the efforts of key opinion leaders and their own employees, Johnson & Johnson persuaded Drs. Steven Shon, A. John Rush and other Texas state healthcare leaders to adopt in full, as TMAP, the antipsychotic guidelines that the company and its consultants had created, and to represent TMAP as the product of unbiased science endorsed by independent medical authorities. State officials and pharma executives soon produced a parallel protocol that pushed Risperdal use in children (though the FDA had never approved the drug for pediatric use). Next, Johnson & Johnson and other pharma companies paid for extensive travel by Steven Shon and other Texas officials, to meet with healthcare leaders in other states and launch antipsychotic protocols of their own. One of the states they visited was Pennsylvania, where they met with Steven Fiorello and his boss, Steven Karp. Here Allen Jones picked up their trail, when he ran across the suspicious payment from Janssen Pharmaceuticals to Fiorello.


Johnson & Johnson’s marketing strategy was highly successful. Risperdal and related Johnson & Johnson drugs using the same active ingredient became the world’s best-selling antipsychotic, with sales of over $4 billion in 2006 alone. More broadly, efforts by Johnson & Johnson and other pharmaceutical companies to modify the perceptions and prescribing habits of psychiatrists throughout the United States produced a global second-generation antipsychotics market with sales of $13 billion per year.


Sifting through the documents, Allen Jones and his team of lawyers and expert witnesses also uncovered the powerful political alliances that enabled Risperdal’s growth. He learned that Governor Tom Ridge, who in October 2001, a month after 9/11, had been called to Washington by President George W. Bush to head the newly formed Department of Homeland Security, had appointed senior members of the Pennsylvania mental health system to lead the state’s new antipsychotic program. One of these leaders was Gerald Radke, former marketing director of Eli Lilly, producer of a top-selling atypical antipsychotic, Zyprexa. Ridge had also appointed Radke’s predecessor, Charles Curie, who had no medical training but strongly advocated pharmaceutical sales and psychiatric testing. George W. Bush himself, Jones learned, had approved TMAP when he was governor of Texas; he had even mentioned it in a presidential debate with Al Gore. Bush had made Charles Curie the director of his New Freedom Commission on Mental Health, an organization that planned to screen preschoolers and schoolchildren nationwide for mental illness, and aggressively to medicate with atypical antipsychotics those judged to have mental disorders.


Jones and his team delved into the details of Johnson & Johnson’s skewed science—how the company had designed misleading clinical trials to exaggerate Risperdal’s effectiveness, concealed unfavorable evidence, and misrepresented dangerous side effects and other health risks. When doctors began to report that Risperdal was causing neurological disorders in their patients, Johnson & Johnson mounted a misinformation campaign to “neutralize” the doctors’ concerns. Jones also saw the lies face-to-face, when he attended a number of depositions of Johnson & Johnson employees, some of whom he himself had interviewed while working at the OIG. “They had been coached by Johnson & Johnson lawyers to deny, deny, deny,” he remembers. “They could have pulled out a dead rat and taken a bite, and then denied adamantly that they’d done any such thing. ‘What rat?’ ” Hopes that former Johnson & Johnson employees would reveal irregular practices were dampened by the company’s practice of paying them “consulting fees” to support the company in litigation, essentially buying their testimony.


Back in his cabin, Jones continued scouring the internet, tracing a vast web of pharma conspiracy. Now and then his eyes strayed from the screen to the rough pine walls of the cabin, where he’d posted inspirational sayings by Schopenhauer, Theodore Roosevelt and Winston Churchill:




All truth passes through three stages. First, it is ridiculed. Second, it is violently opposed. Third, it is accepted as being self-evident.


It is not the critic who counts; not the man who points out how the strong man stumbles, or where the doer of deeds could have done them better. The credit belongs to the man who is actually in the arena . . . who knows the great enthusiasm, the great devotion, who spends himself in a worthy cause, who at the best knows in the end the triumph of high achievement and who at the worst, if he fails, at least he fails while daring greatly. So that his place shall never be with those cold and timid souls who know neither victory nor defeat.


Never, never, in nothing great or small, large or petty, never give in except to convictions of honour and good sense. Never yield to force; never yield to the apparently overwhelming might of the enemy.





Late in the night, he stared out the window at the bare tree trunks and pondered the movements of the human heart.


Natalie Arbaugh, for her part, learned things about healthcare that permanently changed her behavior. When shopping for her young daughter, she says, “I started going to great lengths to avoid buying the products of Johnson & Johnson or any of its divisions. That wasn’t easy. They were everywhere.”


Together, Arbaugh and Jones prepared for trial. They decided that Jones would take the stand. Arbaugh knew the jury would be impressed by his remarkable grasp of the evidence and his unmistakable sincerity. Yet preparing him to testify was stressful. “He desperately wanted to say what he knew. He couldn’t wait for that day. But testifying meant opening him to cross-examination. Which can be a bloodbath.”


The trial of State of Texas ex rel. Allen Jones v. Janssen et al. began on January 9, 2012, in the gray granite megalith of Austin’s Travis County Courthouse. Here, after years of silence, the seal of the case would at last be broken. Allen Jones could tell his story, and hear others speak the crimes he had long fought in secret.


Certain voices and gestures are seared in Jones’s memory: The diminutive yet unquestionably Right Honorable John K. Dietz, cautioning jurors on the first day of proceedings, in his Texas twang, not to feed the lawyers, and when they stared back at him nonplussed, adding, “That was a joke. Y’all’re supposed to laugh.” Cynthia O’Keeffe, her gentle voice taut with outrage, explaining how Johnson & Johnson had stolen $579 million from Texas Medicaid by targeting the state’s poorest and most vulnerable citizens, many of whom were children and pregnant women. Tom Melsheimer, describing how the company had repeatedly assured state healthcare officials that Risperdal was better, safer, and more cost-effective than other drugs, when they knew very well, from their own clinical research, that it was none of these things; and how, at the very moment when the FDA notified the company of its concern about Risperdal causing diabetes, the firm had accelerated its marketing to children. “Often in this country we can feel powerless to combat the actions of large companies,” Melsheimer told the jury. “Our jury system empowers you like no other system in the world to send a message to companies like Janssen, a message to tell the truth, don’t conceal it, a message to put patients first, not profits, and a message to refuse to let corporate greed feast on taxpayer dollars.” Jones remembers, too, the smooth tenor of Dr. Steven Shon, as he acknowledged taking generous honoraria from Johnson & Johnson to spread the gospel of Risperdal in Texas and other states. How he’d briefed the main architect of the Risperdal marketing plan, Janssen vice president Alex Gorsky, on the progress of TMAP.


Then came a series of Johnson & Johnson voices, some defensive, some forthright, describing the marketing scheme they’d used to make Risperdal a $2 billion brand, in open disregard of the law and patient safety. Most seemed to Jones the voices of decent people doing indecent things—people who should have sensed something was wrong, and who could at any time have stepped forward to report it. For the long years of the protocol schemes in Texas, Pennsylvania and elsewhere, none of them did. Here, incarnate, was the banality of evil.


Finally Jones heard the voice of his friend and counselor, Natalie Arbaugh: “Your Honor, we call Allen Jones.”


Arbaugh led Jones’s testimony. She had him talk about building houses in the woods of central Pennsylvania, and his work with addicts, foster children and the mentally ill. About finding that first check to Steven Fiorello, and the ominous drumbeat of discoveries that followed.


She closed with the same straightforward yet slippery question that Jones had been asking himself for years.








	MS. ARBAUGH:


	Tell the jury, Mr. Jones: Why did you blow the whistle?







	MR. JONES:


	The first people affected by TMAP, known in Pennsylvania as PennMAP, were the residents of mental health hospitals, the people in the back wards who were helpless and defenseless to take care of themselves. They needed to trust the people taking care of them. The people responsible for them were betraying them. I couldn’t be a part of that. I wouldn’t be a part of that. So I blew the whistle.







	MS. ARBAUGH:


	Pass the witness.











Soon after Jones spoke, Johnson & Johnson’s lawyers informed his attorneys that their client wanted to end the trial through a negotiated settlement. The two teams of attorneys conferred and rapidly agreed on a number: $158 million. This figure was only a quarter of the $579 million that the State of Texas said it had lost. It made no attempt to quantify the harm done to patients by a decade’s worth of Risperdal—the diabetes, heart disease, neurological damage, lactating male breasts, suicide. Nevertheless, it was the largest healthcare settlement in Texas history. In view of Allen Jones’s exceptional contribution to making the case—there would, in fact, have been no case at all without him—prosecutors recommended that he receive a 24 percent relator’s share of the settlement.


“I felt huge disappointment when they stopped the trial after a week,” Jones says. “We could have filled a yearlong trial with evidence against Johnson & Johnson, and damned them every day. I wanted all that evidence to come out, every last expert witness, every last damning email. Though I confess”—here he makes one of his rare grins, like he’s trying to smile through novocaine—“part of me breathed a sigh of relief.”


Following common practice in legal settlements, Johnson & Johnson admitted no wrongdoing, accepted no liability. “The company expressly denies the government’s civil allegations,” the firm announced in a press release. No executives were prosecuted or penalized. Then it struck back at Allen Jones. Shortly after reaching the settlement, lawyers from the company made a presentation to high-level members of the Texas attorney general’s office. They argued that Jones’s relator’s share should be sharply reduced, and threatened to lobby the state legislature to cripple the Texas Medicaid Fraud Prevention Act if it wasn’t. In the end, the attorney general’s office reduced Jones’s share to 17 percent. Jones still received a substantial sum of money—a little under $8 million after legal fees and taxes. But he was disturbed by this last lash of the dragon’s tail: despite all the grotesque wrongdoing revealed during the trial, the company was still able to pressure state officials into penalizing the whistleblower who had revealed it. “They are trying to produce a chilling effect on the ability of whistleblowers to come forward,” Jones told a reporter after the settlement. “It was brazen, and it was disgusting,” Margaret Moore, a former attorney at the AG’s office, remembers today. “But political power is political power, and they knew how to use it.”


After Allen Jones’s trial in Texas, more Risperdal suits rolled in, all initiated by whistleblowers, many drawing on information revealed during Jones’s litigation. A jury in Louisiana ordered Johnson & Johnson to pay $258 million for the harm the company had done with Risperdal. In South Carolina, the jury put the bill at $327 million. An Arkansas jury said $1.2 billion. Civil suits were brought against the company by patients who had suffered severe harm from Risperdal. Finally, prodded by these state-level successes, the federal government got into the act; in November 2013, the DOJ settled further Risperdal charges with Johnson & Johnson for $2.2 billion.


Again, with a few trivial exceptions, Johnson & Johnson admitted no wrongdoing in these cases, accepted no liability. None of its employees was prosecuted. The jury verdicts in Louisiana and Arkansas were voided on technicalities by the supreme courts in those states; the penalty in South Carolina was halved on appeal. And though Risperdal suits have cost the company nearly $3 billion, it sold $34 billion of the drug between 1993 and 2011 alone, sometimes at profit margins approaching 97 percent. Viewed like this, $3 billion in fines seems a smart investment. That’s evidently how the company felt. In April 2012, two months after the Texas trial, the board of Johnson & Johnson made Alex Gorsky, the mastermind of Risperdal marketing, the firm’s new chief executive. Wall Street cheered: the company’s share price held firm throughout the trial and, aside from brief blips, has climbed steadily ever since. (Johnson & Johnson stock now sells for more than twice what it was worth during the trial.)


The Department of Justice showed little more respect for whistleblowers. Its press release on the $2.2 billion umbrella settlement praised the hard work of DOJ lawyers and celebrated the government’s victory over fraud. The release did not name Jones or any of the other whistleblowers, without whose knowledge and courage the case against Johnson & Johnson would never have been brought in the first place. Allen Jones had testified about the state betraying vulnerable people, people who needed to trust that state to take care of them. But reading the DOJ press release, he, too, felt betrayed, by government entities that had long ignored his contribution and at times seemed to have conspired against him.


________


Today, seven years after the trial and seventeen years since his odyssey began, Allen Jones still spends much of his time in the cabin in the Pennsylvania woods where he lived through the lean years. He has a new Silverado pickup, and the stew bubbling on his stove isn’t freshly killed venison as in former times, but caribou, from a recent hunting trip he made to Newfoundland. But his Rumford fireplace is still the only source of heat in the cabin, which has a flush toilet now but no hot water. Jones wears the same loose-fitting gray jeans and olive T-shirts he was wearing in photos from before the settlement, and still sleeps in the loft where he once slept with a gun under his pillow. “Now Mr. Smith and Mr. Wesson are on the bedside table,” he says, with another of his novocaine grins.


When he became a whistleblower, Allen Jones began a new life, of secrecy and intense legal scrutiny, of loss and paranoia and, now and then, a powerful sense of freedom. This life has brought him wealth, yet with that wealth has come disillusionment, a bitter taste of justice denied. Legal success as a whistleblower rarely brings closure or satisfaction. Cheryl Eckard, in financial terms the most successful false claims whistleblower in history, has wept openly every time she has discussed with me her case against GlaxoSmithKline, remembering the documents she saw that suggested widespread patient harm, but which were sealed away by the settlement agreement she signed, and which she can no longer discuss. Jones, whose lawsuits have been far more successful than those of most whistleblowers, is likewise left with a lingering sensation that the world, having turned on him so violently for stating the truth, is itself broken, corrupt. “It is hard to fully trust anyone or anything again,” he says.


Seventeen years on, he is still trying to make sense of what happened. He wonders how the central figures of his drama could have lived with their acts, and whether they’ve had a change of heart. (He has written to Steven Fiorello, Charles Curie and others involved in TMAP, and seems puzzled, even saddened, that they haven’t responded.) He asks himself what justice was done, when nearly everyone at the pharmaceutical companies and public health institutions who orchestrated the alleged fraud, and who covered it up at the Pennsylvania OIG, went unpunished, and many have prospered. He doubts that the wanton harm he identified has stopped. “In this particular case, I believe I was successful in halting the mayhem and death, the robbing of the public treasury,” he says. “TMAP is dead, its ashes are scattered. But I’m sure there are other programs, other schemes out there, happening right now. I’m sure it’s happening in the military—soldiers are going into combat with a thirty-day supply of Seroquel [an atypical antipsychotic produced by AstraZeneca]. Until a drug company executive goes to jail, this won’t stop. They simply say, ‘We’re going to kill X many people, injure Y. Of those, only A percent will know, and of those, only B percent will be able to do something about it.’ Factor all this into the price of doing business, including payoffs to the families of the ones they kill, and they’re still making huge profits. Whether someone is actually so diabolical as to put it into those words, or whether it’s just the way things work out, I don’t know. The result is the same.”


Above all, Jones strives to explain to others and to himself precisely why he did what he did, retelling his story as if it still amazes him. Given the level of corruption and human harm he encountered, Jones insists that he had no real choice: he was compelled to blow the whistle, because inaction would have made him an accessory to the crime. In this telling, there is an inevitability to what happened, as if he were the protagonist in a Greek tragedy, walking the path that the Fates had foretold. Few who hear his story would question his moral calculus. Yet few could survive the fear, solitude and punishment he faced.


Allen Jones’s story presents us with an unsettling challenge. In his place, would we do what he did, risk what he risked? Few know that we would. For most of us, setting ourselves against a government agency and a multinational corporation is an almost unimaginable step, because we sense that when provoked, they will pursue us like the Furies to the ends of the earth. Throughout our lives, we’ve all had moments, great and small, when we could have played the whistleblower, and we know that we haven’t always measured up. Allen Jones’s story is partly our own, but we are less likely to be the tragic hero than a member of the chorus, looking on fascinated, appalled, yet silent, one of countless mute witnesses too fearful or stunned to react. Or perhaps we’ve played the Furies.


________


This is the age of the whistleblower. Over the past two decades, continuing legal and social trends that originated in the late 1960s, a vital new figure has emerged: the insider who reveals malignant behavior by his organization, earning a measure of protection from the law and of acceptance, even acclaim, from society. In lawsuits that grow more numerous every year, private antifraud whistleblowers have disclosed crimes by Fortune 500 healthcare companies, banks, automakers and weapons manufacturers. Government whistleblowers have unmasked wrongdoing throughout federal, state and local government: dishonest meat grading at the USDA, theft of revenues from oil contracts in the Bureau of Indian Affairs, hazards at nuclear facilities like Los Alamos and Hanford, violations of mine safety standards that killed hundreds of miners, malfeasance by US Marines procurement officials that killed hundreds of frontline soldiers in Iraq and Afghanistan. Civil servants at the Environmental Protection Agency, Homeland Security, the Department of the Interior and the White House have revealed what they see as systemic betrayals of the legal mission of their offices.


In the past five years alone, whistleblowers determined to safeguard public well-being have disclosed Cambridge Analytica’s use of Facebook data to help skew elections; toxic levels of lead in Flint, Michigan, drinking water; deadly abuses and delays in Veterans Administration hospitals; the billion-dollar looting of Malaysian public funds by government insiders and Goldman Sachs; conspiracies to hide emissions by VW and other carmakers; the Theranos blood testing scandal—endless revelations we’d likely know nothing without having an insider speak up. In fact, whistleblowing as an essential fraud-fighting paradigm is one of the few things that liberal and conservative lawmakers can agree on. Each year Congress passes new whistleblower laws, which frequently improve job protection and offer larger money incentives to encourage employees in an ever wider sphere of the public and private workforce to step forward. Shortly after the Enron and WorldCom financial scandals of 2001 and 2002, lawmakers wrote whistleblower legislation to fight corporate crime; after bank fraud and regulatory corruption triggered the 2008 financial collapse, they created whistleblower offices in the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission. In 2015, after deadly ignition switch failures at General Motors and gas pedal malfunctions at Toyota, Congress passed the new Motor Vehicle Safety Whistleblower Act to encourage (and pay) automotive workers to reveal future car hazards. Recent university admissions scandals and Boeing jet crashes, even a Trump tweet criticizing leakers, have prompted public calls for whistleblowers to step forward.


Whistleblowing is spreading because it works. In 2018 alone, the SEC whistleblower office received 5,282 whistleblower reports from people in all fifty states and seventy-two foreign countries, and has since its founding in 2010 caused wrongdoers to pay $1.7 billion in sanctions. Since 1986, the False Claims Act has been used to recover some sixty billion stolen tax dollars, and has deterred an estimated $1 trillion more in fraud. Every dollar spent on building a false claims case brings back to the Treasury about twenty stolen tax dollars; the return on other government fraud investigations is a fifth the size.


Beyond fighting crime, whistleblowers are raising some of the fundamental questions of our democracy. They are forcing debate on the pervasive influence of corporations, and the proper balance between free speech and secrecy, between citizen rights and state power. Whistleblower suits are being heard in the highest courts in the land. The Supreme Court itself has reviewed almost a score of them in the past two decades alone, deliberating on the evolving rights, duties and definitions of public and private whistleblowing: what constitutes a material disclosure, when does the statute of limitations run out, who actually qualifies for whistleblower status in the first place, and how free is their speech. US whistleblower laws are increasingly being used to fight corruption abroad, by companies that do business in the United States. Since 1998, fifty foreign nations have enacted whistleblower statutes of their own (nine since April 2018), often modeled on US law and the lessons of American whistleblowing. Rarely have the voice and conscience of private citizens had more resonance. Whistleblowers join a long line of social critics and questioners, known at various times in history as prophets, philosophers, rebels, freethinkers, poets, muckrakers, and civil rights activists, who risked their freedom and their lives for their ideas.


This book explores the rise of whistleblowing, the character and role of the whistleblower, and the nature of the whistleblowing act, familiar and yet mysterious to most of us (and to many whistleblowers themselves). It examines the root causes of the whistleblowing act, which often arises from malevolent authority in organizational cultures turned toxic. Ultimately, too, this book considers what the growth of whistleblowing suggests about our society. Superficially, the advent of whistleblowing is a David-and-Goliath tale, a rare instance in these times of the individual empowered to confront and even correct institutional wrongdoing, public and private. But ultimately, as we’ll see, the power of whistleblowers is often illusory: their rise is a symptom of a society in deep distress.


We are in the midst of a battle over whistleblowing, part of a larger struggle between personal conscience and group solidarity, between the rights of individuals to know what their corporations and their government are doing, and the ever greater power of organizations to keep their secrets. How these conflicts are ultimately resolved will say much about the future strength of our democracy.





CHAPTER 2



Question Authority




In most social systems obedience is the supreme virtue, disobedience the supreme sin. In fact, in our culture when most people feel “guilty,” they are actually feeling afraid because they have been disobedient. They are not really troubled by a moral issue, as they think they are, but by the fact of having disobeyed a command.


Erich Fromm, On Disobedience and Other Essays, 1981


Obsta principiis [halt the beginnings], nip the shoots of arbitrary power in the bud, is the only maxim which can ever preserve the liberties of any people. When the people give way, their deceivers, betrayers, and destroyers press upon them so fast, that there is no resisting afterwards. . . . The people grow less steady, spirited, and virtuous, the seekers more numerous and more corrupt, and every day increases the circles of their dependents and expectants, until virtue, integrity, public spirit, simplicity, and frugality, become the objects of ridicule and scorn, and vanity, luxury, foppery, selfishness, meanness, and downright venality swallow up the whole society.


John Adams, Novanglus essays, February 6, 1775





On August 31, 2006, Franz Gayl was standing with General Richard Zilmer in the headquarters building at Camp Fallujah in Anbar Province, scene of some of the fiercest fighting in Iraq. Zilmer, once Gayl’s supervisor at the Pentagon, now commanded the I Marine Expeditionary Force (Forward) in Iraq. “We need innovative capabilities against an adaptive enemy, and we need to provide our Marines with more effective protection,” Zilmer told him. “I have requested equipment from the support establishment, but requests have gone unfulfilled. I want you to make it your mission to do something about it.” In plain English, Zilmer meant, “My Marines are dying because they aren’t getting the right gear from headquarters. Go get it for them, now.”


Gayl (whose German surname is pronounced like “guile”) had served in the Marine Corps for twenty-two years before retiring as a major in 2002. He had been working as a civilian science and technology adviser to the Corps when Zilmer asked him to come to Iraq. Gayl promptly volunteered. “I wanted to pay my dues, not just sit out the war in some cubicle in the Pentagon,” he told me years later.


At Camp Fallujah, he gave blood regularly, because the field hospital needed a lot of it, and service members on the base were the only source. In the base’s junkyard, he saw the perforated, burned-out hulls of vehicles destroyed by mines and improvised explosive devices (IEDs). Many of the wrecks were Humvees, the light truck widely used by American forces for moving troops and cargo.


Since January 2005, six hundred Marines had been killed and another two thousand wounded by mines and IEDs, placed by Iraqi insurgents. At that time, 90 percent of coalition soldiers killed and 60 percent of those wounded in Iraq were victims of IEDs, which were often far from “improvised”: blocks of Iranian-made C-4 explosive ignited by industrial timers or motion sensors, which drove a milled copper-alloy slug through many kinds of armor. Humvees were widely known to be vulnerable to IED attacks, especially when the explosion occurred beneath their flat, low-slung undercarriage; already in 1994, Marine Corps analysts reporting on Operation Restore Hope in Somalia had stated that underbody blasts turned them into “death traps.” The military began to add blast-resistant plating to the Humvees’ undercarriage, but they remained a soft target.


Instead of Humvees, General Zilmer wanted MRAPs, or “mine-resistant ambush-protected” vehicles, hulking polygons on four or six wheels that had been developed by the South African army to fight insurgents in Rhodesia and Angola, whose high, V-shaped hulls, produced from a single piece of specially forged carbon steel, provided far better protection from IEDs. However, despite repeated requests by Zilmer and his predecessor in Anbar Province, General Dennis Hejlik, to Marine Corps high command in Quantico, Virginia, no MRAPs had arrived, and soldiers continued dying in Humvees, often two and four at a time. Zilmer had also asked for several other devices for surveillance and nonlethal deterrence, which already existed and which he believed would save lives. None made it to Iraq.


Zilmer is widely credited for his achievements in Iraq, particularly the ticklish job of convincing Sunni warriors in Anbar to join US troops in fighting al-Qaeda, and Gayl revered him. So when Zilmer told him to push the MRAP and the other missing equipment through the maze of military bureaucracy, he set to work with his full energy.


From certain angles, Gayl’s deep-set hazel eyes have a bruised look. His face is mobile and expressive, and he smiles readily, especially when remembering his time on active service. He speaks with the accent of his native Minnesota, and blends a soldier’s fluent stream of acronyms with chunks of vintage Americana, like “Jeez Louise” and “holy cow.” He has put on weight since the photos he shows me of his Iraq deployment, but still has the short-cropped hair, muscular arms and commanding presence of an active Marine. He’s a rare breed: a voluble talker who also listens carefully, watching your face with slightly raised brows as if in suspense about what you might say next.


From an early age, Gayl loved to invent and to destroy. His father, an architect and ecologist who had served as a paratrooper in the German air force during World War II, let him help build the scale models for his commissions, as well as constructing elaborate toy houses out of sticks, which young Franz then set alight. Gayl devised complex thought experiments involving lasers, and projects with explosive chemicals. After dropping out of high school, he enlisted in the Marines the day he turned seventeen. As an infantry antitank assaultman, he gave free rein to his creative and destructive tendencies. He designed and built a two-wheeled cart for transporting grenade launchers and machine guns in night combat, a new safety mechanism for the M16 rifle, and an innovative boat trap to launch and recover amphibious vehicles and landing craft.


Later, as a civilian sci-tech officer, he invented a device called the Gayl Blaster, which used pulsed laser light and high-frequency sound to immobilize rioters without injuring them. While earning a master’s degree in space systems operation at the Naval Postgraduate School, he made predictions about the electromagnetic emissions produced by free-electron lasers, which his supervising professor dismissed as improbable. “He said that I didn’t understand the science, and that I should stop speculating,” Gayl remembers. “In fact, he said I was full of shit.” Yet when the laser system he’d written about was tested, his predictions proved correct. Gayl says that although he hadn’t analyzed the emissions with mathematical rigor, he had visualized the physics of the problem.


Richard Zilmer thought Gayl’s unusual abilities—a gift for finding unorthodox solutions to old problems, a deep commitment to the uniformed Marine Corps, and a certain fearlessness (his critics might say recklessness) in fighting bureaucracy—might enable him to get the much-needed matériel to Iraq. “Franz knew how to get money, he knew how the Hill operated, how the Pentagon operated,” Zilmer said in a 2012 interview.


The bottleneck for the equipment, and the target of Gayl’s future efforts, was the Marine Corps Combat Development Command (MCCDC), the Quantico-based department responsible for supplying weapons and other hardware to soldiers in the field, which had been headed by General James Mattis for most of Zilmer’s time in Iraq, and was now overseen by General James Amos. At Camp Fallujah, together with his supervisor and fellow sci-tech expert, Colonel Martin LaPierre, Gayl worked eighteen-hour days to identify the technological tools the Corps needed to reduce casualties and fight more effectively. They filed more than thirty requests for laser dazzlers, surveillance systems, unmanned aerial vehicles and mine-detection devices. Most urgently, they repeated the requests for MRAPs. Still the equipment failed to arrive.


Gayl’s superiors at the Pentagon warned him to tone down his vocal and email communications with Quantico procurement officials. Agents of the Naval Criminal Investigative Service (NCIS) visited Camp Fallujah to question him about his contact with a Chinese diplomat whom he had interviewed in the United States the previous year while completing a postgraduate degree at the National Defense University. The interview had been authorized by security officials at the time, but now became the subject of a formal investigation, the first of three the NCIS would open against him. Gayl was eventually cleared, but he believes this investigation, like the others, was a response to his activism.


After nearly six months in Iraq, Gayl returned to the Pentagon in February 2007, to continue his mission on behalf of General Zilmer and the Marines. Zilmer wrote him a glowing performance evaluation: “Mr. Gayl is one of our brightest minds, and as a service, we are fortunate to have him among our ranks.” He also braced Gayl for his coming struggles with the Quantico and Pentagon bureaucracies. “You’re going back into the lion’s den,” Zilmer told him. “I can’t protect you anymore.”


“The general officer’s culture,” Gayl says, is “never criticize a fellow general officer. Their loyalty to each other, and their political reliability, seems to be more important to them than protecting society.” Yet he points out numerous exceptions to this rule, including Zilmer and his deputy in Anbar, General Robert Neller. “They did a great deal for me in the months and years that followed,” Gayl remembers.


Back at his cube in the Pentagon, Gayl began to see why the MRAP and other systems had gotten hung up at Quantico. Each of the delayed technologies, he discovered, was competing for funding and visibility with alternative weapon programs. The MRAP itself was pitted against several other vehicles, each of which had strong supporters within the military procurement hierarchy. “People get invested in pushing one program over another, sometimes regardless of their merits,” Gayl observes. “You are selling your wares at conferences, in meetings. The success or failure of that program becomes attached to you: your opportunities for promotion, your career, and even your post-career employment.”


Gayl began digging into the history of requests for MRAPs from Iraq. A February 2005 “Urgent Universal Need Statement” (UUNS) drafted by Marine major Roy McGriff and signed by General Hejlik, at a point in the war when IED casualties had begun to spike, explained how the MRAP would save countless lives and requested specific models of the vehicle, already being manufactured by a company in South Carolina. Hejlik pointed out the absurdity of the Marines’ suffering grave casualties because of a problem to which an off-the-shelf solution already existed. “Without MRAP, personnel loss rates are likely to continue at their current rate,” he concluded. “Continued casualty accumulation exhibits potential to jeopardize mission success.” In other words, Hejlik felt the missing MRAPs were losing the war.


Gayl called McGriff, who explained that, back in 2005, he had briefed Mattis himself about the MRAPs, and Mattis had agreed that the vehicles should ship as soon as possible. But Gayl discovered that in the spring of 2005, when top procurement officials from MCCDC and other departments met to discuss the request, their primary concern had not been how MRAPs would help frontline soldiers, but how supplying large numbers of these expensive vehicles would divert funds from competing projects, including the up-armored Humvee, the Light Armored Vehicle, and the Expeditionary Fighting Vehicle (EFV), a costly prototype built by General Dynamics and championed by some top brass, including Mattis himself. (In 2011, after spending a total of about $3 billion to develop it, the Marine Corps canceled the EFV due to its poor reliability and ballooning costs.) A later audit by the Department of Defense inspector general confirmed that MCCDC officials had not considered the causes of IED casualties, much less accelerated MRAP deployment to prevent them.


“They had killed the [UUNS] request, and then ‘disappeared’ it to hide it from leadership,” Gayl says. “When I saw that, I was pissed!” Partisanship over weapon systems and strategic priorities has likely been a part of military procurement since the birth of standing armies. Yet after serving as an adviser at Camp Fallujah, he knew firsthand the human cost of these bureaucratic turf wars. “The disappearance of that single document below the radar led to the unnecessary deaths of many, many Marines. I believed the Marine Corps needed to make this ugly story part of our lessons learned, to help us avoid similar tragedies in the future.”


When Gayl told his civilian and military supervisors of the frustration Generals Zilmer, Neller and other frontline commanders were feeling about the failure to supply MRAPs and other technologies, they took no action. So Gayl attempted to alert the higher echelons of the Department of Defense. Together with Martin LaPierre, he prepared a PowerPoint presentation for the Department of Defense Research and Engineering office. Beneath the dry, technical language of the slides was a powerful indictment of how bureaucratic gridlock was compromising the war effort. “Process worship cripples operating forces,” one slide read. “Unnecessary delays cause US friendly and innocent Iraqi deaths and injuries,” said another.


In the rarefied bureaucratic realm of Pentagon weapons procurement, such straight talk is rare. After reviewing the presentation, Gayl’s supervisors canceled the meeting and ordered Gayl to delete all copies of the slides. They informed him that high-ranking officers in the procurement establishment, including General James Mattis, the former head of MCCDC, had objected to the presentation, and that he was henceforth “persona non grata at their commands.” When an article in Defense Technology International, citing an anonymous military source, claimed that delays in the delivery of the laser dazzler had resulted in 50 dead and 140 wounded Iraqi civilians in Anbar, Mattis fired a Marine colonel close to Gayl who had agreed with the assessment. (The anonymous source had been Gayl; the colonel was reinstated soon after, and joined Zilmer’s staff.)


Despite increasing hostility from his supervisors, Gayl persisted. He began writing an even more scathing report, “Five Recent Examples of Marine Corps Gross Mismanagement,” which asserted that the Marine Corps procurement establishment, in failing to supply MRAPs, dazzlers and other requested devices, had been blatantly, even criminally, negligent.


Finally, in May 2007, Gayl saw an article in Inside the Pentagon, an influential Web newsletter on military policy, in which General James Conway, commandant of the Marine Corps, told the Joint Chiefs of Staff that field commanders hadn’t asked for MRAPs until 2006—when, as Gayl knew, they’d actually been formally requested in February 2005. “My first reaction when I saw the article was, ‘The Commandant of the Marine Corps just told a serious lie!’ ” Gayl remembers. “Then I thought, ‘No, the Commandant wouldn’t lie. But the people who briefed him might.’ ”


Gayl notified Inside the Pentagon of the error, and when the publication failed to correct it, he sent a copy of the MRAP request from 2005, an unclassified document, to another defense industry blog, Wired.com’s Danger Room. On May 22, Wired.com published a harsh criticism of the MRAP delays, titled “Military Dragged Feet on Bomb-Proof Vehicles.” The article drew immediate attention. Two prominent senators, Joe Biden from Delaware and Kit Bond from Missouri, demanded an explanation for the delays in fielding MRAPs. Biden’s staff contacted Gayl, whose role in the disclosure had not yet become public knowledge but whose name had come up in their research. They asked if he’d be willing to brief Biden on the MRAP, and to speak with the press.


Gayl had reached the Rubicon. His repeated attempts to fix the MRAP emergency and other instances of supply mismanagement within the Marine Corps establishment had failed. A number of peers and mentors had cautioned him to back down. “You have done enough,” one supportive general told him. “Any more would be willful suicide.” But Gayl could not let go. He sensed that in order to achieve his mission, he would have to go public.


He told his mother what he was planning to do. “Oh, Franzie, you’re going to be a whistleblower?” she replied in disbelief.


“I was so insulted,” he told me. “To me ‘whistleblower’ was a fuckin’ narc. Worse than a narc: an opportunistic narc. I told her, ‘No I’m not going to be a whistleblower—that’s ridiculous!’ But later, when I cooled down, I began to think, ‘Aw, Jeez Louise, is this what it is?’ ” Gradually the term took on a more positive connotation in his mind. “After all, the only reason I’m still surviving is because I had that status. But the first time I heard that word from my mom, I was mortified.”


Gayl was torn between two powerful emotions. “On the one hand, it seemed to me unthinkable to speak outside of this tight, self-sufficient family called the US Marine Corps. On the other hand, Marines on active duty were dying, because of a corrupt culture of money and career advancement completely divorced from their operational realities. And those Marines, the men and women in harm’s way, were my real family. The Marines had taken me in at seventeen, a high school dropout with problems—selfish indiscipline, alcohol, delinquency. From the very first day, standing on those yellow footprints on the pavement at basic training, they gave me an identity, a purpose in life.”


His loyalty to that “real family,” he says, left him no other option. “I had exhausted all internal channels. I felt nothing would change unless I went outside command. I found myself standing at an intersection of personally observed events and unique personal knowledge. It would have been criminal for me not to act.”


The military code of justice he’d learned in basic training states that soldiers must not obey orders that they know are wrong or illegal. “In fact, you have a responsibility to reject bad instructions and to correct wrongs, and that responsibility overrides everything else,” Gayl told me. And the “request mast,” a time-honored military convention, gives every uniformed Marine, even a lowly private, the right to bring any concern, personal or professional, directly to the first general or flag officer in his chain of command, in complete secrecy. “The request mast is a sacred right, and we cherish it. It’s legendary in boot camp. You hear stories of young guys using it to get all the way to the commandant of the Marine Corps, even to the president.” Though the request mast is technically only available to people in uniform, Gayl said that it, too, influenced his thinking when he decided to blow the whistle.


Then he flashed his toothy grin. “I’m making my decision to speak out sound complicated. But in another way, it was simple. Das macht man nicht [One doesn’t do that]. What was happening was just wrong, and I couldn’t let it happen.” His smile faded. “Look, I was far from an exemplary Marine. Otherwise I would have advanced further. I’ve fallen short in many things in my life. But on this very important thing, I felt, ‘No! I’ve gotta look myself in the mirror.’ ”


Before he acted, he also consulted his wife, Conchita, a Filipino national, whom he calls “my backbone, my beautiful, beloved Rottweiler.” He remembered telling her, “ ‘Honey, they stopped me, but I have to go forward. But it’s going to change things in our lives.’ Her only response was, ‘We’ll make it somehow. Kids are getting killed. Do what you need to do for the Marines.’ She supported me one hundred percent, trusted me one hundred percent, even though I couldn’t tell her what I was going to reveal. Without that support, most whistleblowers do poorly. Their lives fall apart.”


Conchita told me that she also gave her husband a word of caution. “I told Franz what my grandmother in the Philippines always said: ‘When you point a finger at someone, you’re pointing three other fingers back at yourself.’ I wanted Franz to be sure he was doing it for the right motives. To save lives, and not just to get back at people who had stood in his way.”


Jane Pejsa, Gayl’s mother, gave a different kind of advice. “You need a lawyer right now,” she remembers telling him. “You need protection.” She searched the internet, and quickly found three organizations that served whistleblowers as advisers and legal advocates: the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), which investigates cases of whistleblowing in federal agencies and defends the legal rights of whistleblowers against those agencies; the Project on Government Oversight (POGO), a nonprofit government watchdog; and GAP, whose lawyers represent whistleblowers in courts and before administrative boards. She gave Gayl the telephone number and email of GAP’s legal director, Tom Devine.


Gayl tried to reassure her that he’d be all right on his own—he had faith in the people he was dealing with, he said, and ultimately, there were legal protections for whistleblowers. But she was adamant. “Nope. Call these people, Franz. I have a feeling.”


“Boy, was she right,” Gayl said. “If I had waited, I would have been dead.”


On May 23, Gayl blew the whistle—characteristically, at full volume. He explained the details of the MRAP affair to the staffs of Senators Biden and Bond, and gave them his report on “gross mismanagement” at the Marine Corps. He also briefed the staffs of Senators Jay Rockefeller, chair of the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, and Carl Levin, chair of the Senate Committee on Armed Services. Days later, Biden and Bond grilled General Conway about the MRAP affair. Gayl also gave on-the-record interviews to a series of newspapers and radio and television programs, including USA Today, NPR’s On the Media and PBS NewsHour, declining to seek permission from Marine Corps Public Affairs as he’d been ordered. “I already knew they would shut me down.”


His whistleblowing brought results. Secretary of Defense Robert Gates swiftly made fielding MRAPs a top priority, and by July 2008, the Defense Department had approved the construction of 15,838 of the vehicles, of which 2,225 were allocated to the Marines. By November 2008, 12,073 MRAPs had been shipped to Iraq. Casualty rates from IED attacks dropped from 60 percent with Humvees to 5 percent with MRAPs. Fatalities fell by 85 percent.


Independent authorities repeatedly verified Gayl’s criticisms of the MRAP affair. A September 2007 report by the Naval Audit Service identified serious flaws in the UUNS process. An audit by the inspector general of the Department of Defense condemned MCCDC’s handling of the MRAP affair, observing that the Marines had recognized the dangers of IED attacks in Iraq well before the invasion and had known the Humvee’s vulnerability to IEDs since the early 1990s, yet had failed to act on repeated warnings and requests. The Government Accountability Office confirmed Gayl’s claims about wrongful delays in fielding other urgent technology.


The military had accepted Gayl’s message about the MRAPs. Yet it swiftly attacked the messenger, for having committed the two cardinal sins of the defense establishment: speaking to Congress and speaking to the press. The Pentagon’s bitter and elaborate persecution of Gayl would last for eight years.


Both in uniform and as a civilian, Gayl had always earned high performance ratings. At his retirement from active duty in 2002, General James Amos, later to become commandant of the Marine Corps, wrote, “You have been a super-star for the Marine Corps for your entire career.” In 2007, General Zilmer recommended him for the Senior Executive Service, the civilian equivalent of a general officer’s rank, writing in his performance review, “Mr. Gayl’s dedication and passion for design, development and delivery of technology solutions to our warfighting needs is matched by no one I know.”


Yet only months after speaking out, Gayl received a performance rating in the bottom 30 percent of his rank. By 2008, it had dipped to the bottom 3 percent. He was no longer given the pay raises and awards that had once been routine. He was ordered to take a psychological examination to determine his fitness for duty. He received a series of written reprimands and recommendations for unpaid suspension. His military boss subjected him to frequent, public humiliation, calling his whistleblowing acts “cowardly, unethical and immoral.” Gayl’s superiors rewrote his job description to eliminate the scientific and technological skills for which he’d been hired and then worked to demote him to fit this new, diminished position. He was repeatedly denied permission to take part in continuing education, essential for a science and technology officer.


Gayl’s work assignments became booby traps. His supervising colonel repeatedly criticized a report on procurement reform he’d been tasked with, and demanded numerous additions but, once Gayl delivered it to Congress, reported him for unauthorized release of classified information contained in two footnotes—even though the information came from unclassified documents, and Gayl’s report itself had already been cleared as unclassified. NCIS investigators opened a second probe for this purported breach, which they said made Gayl a potential insider threat. They soon dropped this investigation, but then began a third, for possible psychological instability, after Gayl was accused of using an unauthorized USB flash drive in the Sensitive Compartmented Information Facility (SCIF), the restricted area where he worked that was designated for the handling of highly classified material. Gayl does not recall using a flash drive in the facility, and no evidence has ever been produced that links him with the drive. In fact, the drive’s manufacturer stated that it had never produced a drive with the serial number cited by investigators, which suggests that the accusation was fabricated. Nevertheless, the Pentagon inspector general supported the charges against Gayl, as well as the decision to suspend him.


On October 4, 2010, in an elaborately choreographed ritual of public humiliation, Gayl was “read out” of his security clearances. Without them, Gayl could not do his job, or even enter the SCIF. He was put on paid administrative leave and escorted off the Pentagon premises. Most observers believed that he was gone for good.


When I visited Gayl at his home in Burke, Virginia, a Washington, DC, suburb, in April 2015, he suggested a walk in a nearby park with his two Rhodesian ridge-backs, Phoenix and Goldie. As we walked, I observed that a number of Marine Corps officers involved in the MRAP affair had left the military soon after, to work for defense contractors that were manufacturing armored vehicles that competed with the MRAP. As commandant of the Marine Corps, James Conway had initially voiced strong opposition to the MRAP; in April 2011, less than six months after retiring from the military, he joined the board of directors of Textron, a defense firm that was building a rival vehicle. General Mattis had vigorously championed the EFV built by General Dynamics and became a director of that firm five months after he resigned from the Marines in May 2013.


“As Marines, right from basic training, we are taught that officers must be ‘above reproach’ at all times,” Gayl said. “I have fallen far short of standards of all kinds, on many occasions. When I look in the mirror, I try to correct myself. But some people develop such a sense of comfort, even a cult of the personality, that they do questionable things repeatedly, right in plain sight. And when they get called on it, they go on the counterattack. ‘Don’t question my character—how dare you question my character!? I am incorruptible.’ Their actions may survive legal scrutiny, because of a Marine legal opinion that there’s no conflict of interest, but in taking certain jobs, standards of propriety are violated.”


Gayl believes that such people have departed from the teachings every recruit learns in basic training: to refuse to participate in wrongdoing, and to alert others when it happens. “These are the basic moral foundations that are instilled in every one of us. That’s unique to the military—I don’t think you’ll hear that when you go into an industry, when you’re being indoctrinated into a new company. And it relates directly to the highest-stakes situation there is: to combat. What the drill instructor strove for us to embody was the sense of personal accountability for every action that we took, or failed to take. If your superiors directed you to knowingly harm innocents, or overlook lethal threats to your own comrades, you would be expected to refuse such orders, whatever the consequences. And you would be expected to report it.”


It may be no coincidence that the first US whistleblower law concerned sailors and Marines on active duty. The life-and-death nature of combat demands absolute honesty. But as officers work their way up the ranks, Gayl observed, they sometimes become susceptible to what Germans call Ehrgeiz, the fierce ambition for power or advancement that can be indistinguishable from egocentric pride. “Men and women are weak,” he said in a low, resigned voice, as if suddenly weary. “We are all corruptible. Even general officers. The lure of money is a powerful force.”


When we returned home, Gayl showed me his basement library, an eclectic collection of physics texts, Mandarin Chinese phrase books, Hegel and Kant in the original German, and classics of Marxist political theory. Like any good soldier, he had a copy of Sun Tzu’s Art of War, and, like several whistleblowers I know, he had William Golding’s classic on groupthink and tribal horror, Lord of the Flies, as well as plenty of Kafka. (“I know what it’s like to wake up one day transformed into a cockroach!” he said.) His collection of religious texts included the Bible, the Pentateuch and Haftarah, introductions to Buddhism and Taoism, three editions of the Qur’an, the Fiqh-us-Sunnah on Sharia law, and The Sealed Nectar, a recent biography of Muhammad. “I’ve read the Qur’an five times. I used to read it in the courtyard of the Pentagon.” He plans to get the Talmud, which runs to over six thousand pages. “I’m gonna buy that thing when I have cash to spare, though I’m not sure where I’ll put it.”


During his readings, which Gayl started after joining the Marine Corps, he was struck by the correspondences among the three great monotheistic religions. “It is all the same story, and it is all the same message,” he said, pointing to parallels between the dietary laws of Islam and Judaism, which require that animals be killed without cruelty and forbid the eating of predators, because they don’t kill humanely, and we inherit their cruelty if we eat them. Such laws, Gayl told me in a delighted rush of words, “connect us to bigger things we all have in common, but have forgotten because we no longer speak the same language. All of the prophets were talking about the same things, but at different times and in different languages. It’s the Tower of Babel problem, the arrogance and defiance of humankind. The Talmud says that whenever a brick would fall from the tower, the people would burst into tears, but when a man fell they never shed a tear.” He shook his head. “The world suffers from a lack of reading. If everyone knew what I know about this stuff, there would not be fighting.”


Gayl pulled out a slender book with a cream linen cover, Soldaten fallen vom Himmel (Soldiers Fall from Heaven). On the frontispiece is a dedication to Gayl’s father, “for distinguished achievements in service,” dated Christmas 1941. The book, Gayl explained, was a present from the much-decorated German general Hermann-Bernhard Ramcke to his father, Franz Josef Gayl, who fought in the Luftwaffe. Franz Senior had wanted to join the SS, Hitler’s elite shock troops, but because one of his grandmothers would have been considered a Jew under the laws of the Third Reich, he entered the crack Fallschirmjäger (paratrooper corps) instead, where racial background checks were less stringent. He had served in Rommel’s Afrika Korps and had been taken prisoner by British troops, interned in an American prison camp and repatriated after the war. He had returned to the United States as one of the first German foreign exchange students in the postwar period, to study architecture at the University of Chicago, with the intention of going back home to help rebuild Berlin. But instead he had met an American woman, Jane Pejsa, and decided to stay.


Gayl says his father, like many Germans of his generation, was demoralized by the loss of the war and struggled to find a new worldview. Beginning in the 1950s, he took up the cause of Native Americans and African Americans, and in the 1960s he embraced the architectural style and the counterculture ideals of the early ecological movement. Over time he became disillusioned with the materialism and environmental destructiveness he saw in the United States, which seemed to him a cancer on the natural world. He eventually built a home for the family on a tiny island in Lake Minnetonka, Minnesota. Gayl remembers it as a wonderful place to grow up, though isolated. But the idyllic setting didn’t appear to help his father.


“He was a visionary, the strongest and yet the most humane person I have ever known,” Gayl says. “But his anti-Semitism ran deep all his life, surely due to Third Reich indoctrination as a child, and in spite of the fact that he was part Jewish himself. Being the embodiment of such extreme contradictions was pretty explosive stuff to live with. And as a former German paratrooper in the bourgeois circles of his American wife, he always felt under suspicion.” Gayl says his father suffered from debilitating depression, particularly in later years. “He was bipolar, decades before there was anything effective to treat it, and he may have been when he was younger as well. He just had to suck it up.” Gayl adds that he himself has taken Prozac since 1992.


At such moments, I felt for Gayl’s superiors. After all, what is the average military official to make of a federal civil servant with high security clearances reading the Qur’an in the courtyard of the Pentagon and discussing his daily dose of Prozac? Gayl also told his colleagues that he thought society was in rapid decline, and that he had started buying guns in preparation for darker times. “I’m not a psychologist,” one of Gayl’s former supervisors, Colonel James Wilkinson, said in a 2012 interview, “and I don’t know what to look for in guys who may be ready to go over the edge.” (“After he did everything possible to push Franz over,” Gayl’s lawyer would add, when I repeated the comment to him.)


But consider: What kind of person can resist the United States Marine Corps’ almost overwhelming pressure to submit to superiors, and knowingly risk job loss, financial ruin, humiliation, divorce and jail, to do the right thing? Many people who blow the whistle are able to do so precisely because they are not like most of us, or how we’re told to be. They’re not “team players,” not “go along to get along” personalities. They can be prickly and doctrinaire. They can seem obsessive, even unstable. Franz Gayl may be all of these things. Yet those very traits may have enabled him to save thousands of lives in Iraq.


Tom Devine is the legal director at GAP whom Gayl’s mother found for him on the internet. He is a small, tousled, soft-walking, soft-looking man of sixty-six. He owns one pair of black shoes, which he wears to court, to restaurants and on long walks in the country. He has two suits, blue and gray, which he wears only when testifying before Congress, together with one of his several dozen Jerry Garcia signature ties. A sign on his office door reads RESIDENT ANARCHIST, and he salts his conversation with hippiespeak (“good trip,” “cool city”) and random rhymes at the end of his sentences (“later, gator,” “no big deal, Neal”). His voice is gentle, almost feminine, so the dry, steady crush of his handshake is startling. “Tom really has the Howdy Doody routine down,” says Rick Parks, one of his whistleblower clients who later worked at GAP as an investigator, “to the point where his opponents think they can reach out and tickle him beneath the chin. And soon they may find they’re tickling the belly of a dragon.” Devine says he loves his work because it lets him speak truth to power and get away with it. “I’d be a whistleblower, but I don’t have a martyr’s complex,” he says, with a mirthless chuckle. “This is the perfect job, because I get to keep it.” He doesn’t mention that the job nearly killed him.


Devine received his law degree from Antioch, a hotbed of public interest law founded in 1972 in answer to Ralph Nader’s call for a new breed of lawyers willing to defend the general public. Antioch held its first lectures in a condemned stone mansion, and its commencements in a Unitarian church. On the wall of its largest classroom was a bright red QUESTION AUTHORITY bumper sticker. To earn their degree, students were required to spend a third of their time defending the poor, the physically and mentally handicapped, and foster children. As a first-year law student, Devine attended a conference on government transparency hosted by the Institute for Policy Studies, a left-wing think tank that had helped Daniel Ellsberg pass the Pentagon Papers to the New York Times. Among the featured speakers was J. Anthony Morris, an FDA vaccine specialist who had revealed that the swine flu vaccine of 1976 was a Big Pharma boondoggle. “That speech and that entire situation were completely inspiring,” Devine remembers. “My eyes were a river. I knew immediately this was my calling.” Helping victims was all well and good, he felt, but by defending whistleblowers, he’d be striking at the heart of society’s problems. While completing his law degree, he worked at the Institute for Policy Studies’ new whistleblower program, called the Project on Official Illegality, which he soon developed into the GAP legal clinic. He broke his first major case in 1980, when a private detective and group of whistleblower welders revealed to him that the William H. Zimmer nuclear power plant, then being completed near Cincinnati, was so riddled with defective materials, faulty welds and safety violations that it represented a threat of catastrophic failure. Thanks to a nearly four-year battle by Devine, Cincinnati antinuclear activist Tom Carpenter, and fifty whistleblowers, the facility was halted at 97 percent completion and converted to coal power.


Since then, Devine has represented about a thousand whistleblowers and helped some six thousand more, who have revealed wrongdoing ranging from institutional recklessness at the Three Mile Island nuclear plant to the FDA’s irresponsible authorization of the deadly drug Vioxx, wrongdoing being winked at by the USDA and the Department of Homeland Security, and fraud in the Star Wars missile defense system. He and his colleagues at GAP, today a world leader in strategy and defense for government and corporate whistleblowers, have worked with Congress to help pass or defend thirty-two national statutes, including every federal law concerning whistleblowing enacted over the last twenty years. GAP attorneys have also shaped better whistleblower legislation in seventeen countries, often serving as representatives of the State Department. They helped to draft whistleblower policies for the UN, the World Bank and the African Development Bank, and then to pass laws ensuring that the United States would not fund these and other NGOs unless they had valid whistleblower policies in place.


By the early 1990s, he’d had too much of a good thing. “Working with such high-impact cases and such remarkable people, it’s inspiring. I found it irresistible. But it became all-consuming. I was working eighty- to hundred-hour weeks.” Devine had been an all-American debater in college, captain of a team that still holds the national record for tournament championships. “This was my gift: analytical warfare. I knew that I could win any argument that I had with myself. So rather than fool around with the bullshit of thinking every single thing through, I started just following my gut. Which made a lot of sense at times, but isn’t a good way to live your life. It means you’re driven by your inner child: you’re reacting to everything, you’re not taking control of your life. And gut reactions are pretty primitive sometimes—you need facts to flesh them out. But that was the way I lived my life until I was forty. Then everything started falling apart.”


His wife left him. He developed a chronic cough and headaches, and strange, wandering pains that no doctor could explain. “I thought I was dying,” he says with a bemused look, as if remembering the antics of a spoiled child. Doctors eventually located and removed an egg-size cyst behind his left eardrum, which had it burst would have ended his life. With the help of meditation and yoga, Devine learned to detach himself from his clients, while continuing to empathize with their struggles and respect their values. Today he teaches his clients to do the same. “Many whistleblowers come in here with a strong ‘They’re not going to get away with this!’ attitude. They want to shout the wrongs they’ve seen from the rooftops. Sometimes they’re pretty vindictive. I’m not afraid of conflict, but unless there’s a public health threat that needs to stop right now, I’ve learned to view conflict as a last resort. If you want whistleblowers to survive and to continue in their professions, you have to make their speaking out a healing process, not a vindictive confrontation. Whistleblowers should be perceived as problem solvers, exercising their freedom to warn on behalf of the long-term well-being of their organization, not critics who say ‘Gotcha!’ ”


Devine takes my notepad and draws his model of whistleblower dynamics. “Here is the whistleblower,” he says, making a dot in the middle of the page. He draws a circle around it. “This circle is the whistleblower’s organization. A lot of our work is about out-Machiavelli-ing the Machiavellis, about fleshing out the plan for staying under the radar. Because the longer you prevent the institution from perceiving the whistleblower as a threat, the longer the information keeps flowing, which makes the whistleblower’s case stronger. But as soon as they’re seen as a threat”—here he draws a series of arrows converging from the circle to trap the dot—“then they are walled off and can no longer access the information. They’re isolated, and isolation is fatal. If you’re isolated, it’s really dangerous to know too much. Solidarity is crucial to survival. So what we do next is this.” Devine traces a larger circle that encompasses the first, then draws more arrows radiating from the dot through the first circle to reach the second. “We get the information out past the organization, to the places where people can access and use it. When this happens, instead of an organization surrounding the individual, it’s society surrounding the organization.”


Doing this effectively often requires the timing and finesse of an orchestra conductor. “I play the information matchmaker, and call in as many fact finders as possible who can’t be bought off or intimidated. Law enforcers, prosecutors, media, local community leaders, public interest groups. I try to involve politicians of opposing parties and trigger government investigations at different levels, so that people will be competing against each other, and no one institution will be able to cover up what they find. I may try to draw in competing factions within organizations or, if it’s a business, to alert their competitors.”


In 2007, when he went to work for Franz Gayl on the MRAP issue, the situation looked bleak. “A lawyer for the Marines told me, ‘We can settle, and won’t criminally prosecute him, if he drops the case and doesn’t speak further,’ ” Devine says. “I asked, ‘What are the charges, sir?’ He answered: ‘Everything he told Congress he stole from the Marine Corps—it’s the intellectual property of the USMC.’ ” Devine hoots with laughter. “That wasn’t much of a basis for dialogue!”


Step by step, Devine parried the Marine Corps’ attacks, while coordinating Gayl’s whistleblowing about the MRAP with the press and Capitol Hill. When the Marines threatened Gayl or gave him bad performance reviews, Devine and Danielle Brian, director of POGO, wrote letters of protest to Congress, prompting Senators Biden and Bond to warn the Marine commandant not to punish someone who was helping to save lives. Devine established Gayl’s status as a whistleblower under federal law; after the Marines changed Gayl’s paid leave to unpaid leave—essentially firing him—he persuaded the Office of Special Counsel (OSC) to file a stay request with the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB), claiming that the Marines’ action had violated the federal Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989. The MSPB granted a forty-five-day stay, blocking the Corps’ action until the OSC had investigated and agreed that Gayl was indeed a whistleblower who was suffering retaliation. Devine and Brian also delivered petitions to Defense Secretary Leon Panetta that demanded an end to this retaliation.


Gradually Devine’s strategic moves began to pay off. The Marine Corps reversed Gayl’s suspension, making him eligible for a security clearance, albeit at a lower level of responsibility. Gayl resumed limited work duties. Devine and the Marine Corps lawyers, with extensive help from the OSC and other offices, began to negotiate a settlement agreement. Finally, on September 23, 2014, the Marines and GAP reached an agreement that allowed Gayl to keep his job, receive an undisclosed payment for damages and a citation for his whistleblowing, and be entrusted with formulating whistleblower guidelines for the Marine Corps.


I sat with Devine in his office at GAP that day, as he answered a stream of calls from lawyers and reporters. He spoke with them in a firm, low-key, matter-of-fact voice, without a trace of jubilation. “I’d just love to gloat about this,” he told me after yet another dour phone conversation, “but Franz has just been freed after seven years in hell. My gloating would be self-indulgent.”


Tom Devine’s successes with Franz Gayl were built not only on the general public’s recognition of whistleblowing as a legitimate and beneficial act, but also on a series of federal laws to protect whistleblowers that began to take shape a half century earlier. Between 1968 and 1972, a time of crisis in the United States, four pioneer whistleblowers fought back against illegitimate authority in ways that galvanized the nation. They revealed corporate crime and systemic government abuse on an unprecedented scale, and proved whistleblowing to be both an effective and a necessary tool against institutional wrongdoing. They became voices of the country’s conscience and helped catalyze the legislation, create the government bodies, and generate the public support for whistleblowing that attorneys like Tom Devine and John Phillips would use to empower and protect their clients.


________


On November 13, 1968, a short, dark, slightly plump man with graying brilliantined hair and thick glasses slipped into Room 1202 of the New Senate Office Building during a hearing of the Subcommittee on Economy in Government and took a seat in the audience. Soon the committee chairman, Senator William Proxmire, recognized the man, called him to the witness table and asked for his statement. In a rich Alabama drawl, the man explained that he had not prepared a statement but would speak extemporaneously. He then delivered a mind-numbingly detailed disquisition on cost control in major weapons systems, including the Minuteman missile, the F-111 fighter and the C-5A Galaxy, the massive new transport plane that Lockheed, its manufacturer, promised would revolutionize warfare.
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